BOUNDING METHODS FOR FACILITIES LOCATION PROBLEMS

1

by

Paul Douglas Dowling, B.Sc., M.Sc., M.B.A.

٩,

A Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Management Science/Systems

McMaster University

September 1985 (C)

۲. _

Permission has been dranted to the National Library of Canada to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film.

The author (copyright owner), has reserved other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her written permission.

ъ

L'autorisation a été accordée à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.

بي

L'auteur (titulaire du droit d'auteur) se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent, être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation écrite.

ISBN 0-315-30558-4

£

BOUNDING METHODS FOR FACILITIES LOCATION PROBLEMS

ind.

DOCTOR OF PHILOSPHY (1985) (Management Science/Systems)

~ McMASTER UNIVERSITY Hamilton, Ontario

2

TITLE: Bounding Methods For Facilities Location Problems

Professor R.F. Love

AUTHOR:Paul Douglas Dowling,
M.Sc.B.Sc.(McMaster University)
M.Sc.M.Sc.(McMaster University)
M.B.A.(McMaster University)

ii

SUPERVISOR:

NUMBER OF PAGES: viii, 99

ABSTRACT

Several methods have been proposed and tested for calculating lower bounds on the objective function of facilities problems. These methods contribute to the efficiency of iterative solution methods by allowing the user to terminate the computation process when the objective function comes within a predetermined fraction of the optimal solution. Two of the existing bounding methods have been presented only for single facility location models with Euclidean (straight-line) distances. One of these methods uses the dual of the single facility location model to compute a lower bound. This thesis introduces a method for generating a feasible dual solution from any primal solution by means of a projection matrix. The projection matrix method is applied to single and multi-facility models. The second bounding method, which involves the solution of a rectilinear distance model to obtain a lower bound, is extended in this thesis to include a generalized distance function and the multi-facility situation. Computation results for the two new bounding methods are compared with several existing bounding methods. These results should aid practitioners in selecting an appropriate bounding method for an iterative solution method to a facilities location problem.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to acknowledge the efforts of my committee members, Dr. G.O. Wesolowsky and Dr. I.Z. Chorneyko, for their advice and patience throughout the dissertation process. A special note of thanks to Dr. N.P. Archer who has always managed to find the time, above and beyond what was expected of him as Ph.D. program director, to provide valuable information and counselling throughout my attendance in the program.

It is difficult to describe the considerable demands that I have made upon my supervisor, Dr. R.F. Love, and the appreciation and admiration that I have for him. Fortunately, the effort, care and consideration exhibited by Dr. Love in the dissertation and course work phases of my program has always exceeded the demands and challenges that I have thrust upon him. And finally, a note of thanks to the many people who helped make this dissertation a reality through contributions which ranged from finding "lost" computer files on backup tapes to providing encouragement when my morale was low.

iv

÷.,

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| DISSERTA | FION | DESCRIPTION | Page |
|----------|-------------|---|------------------|
| ABSTRACT | ۰. ۱ | | ii |
| ACKNOWL | EDGE | MENTS | iii [.] |
| CHAPTER | 1 | INTRODUCTION | iv 1 |
| • • | • | Single and Multi-Facility Location Models | 1 |
| | | User Decisions in Applying a Location Model | 4 |
| | | The Importance of Bounding Methods for Location Models | 6 |
| : | | Objectives of the Thesis | 8 |
| CHAPTER | 2 | SIGNIFICANT PRIOR RESEARCH | 10 |
| | | Single Facility Location Models | 10 |
| | | Bounding Methods for Single Facility Location Models | 16 |
| | , | Multi-Facility Location Models | 18 |
| | | Bounding Methods for Multi-Facility Location Models | 25 |
| CHAPTER | 3 | A COMPARISON OF BOUNDING METHODS FOR SINGLE FACILITY LOCATION MODELS | 26 |
| | | A Lower Bound Obtained From the Dual | 20 |
| | | The Drezner Bound for Single Facilty ℓ_{p} Distance Problems | 20 28 |
| | | Bound comparisons for the Single Facility ℓ_{p} Distance Model | 30 |
| | | Comparison of Drezner and Juel Bound for Euclidean Distances | 36 |
| | ١ | | |

TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

| | | | | Page |
|---|----------|------------------|---|------|
| | | | Comparison of the Dual and Love-Yeong Bound | 38 |
| | 2 × | | Conclusions | 43 |
| | CHAPTER | 4 | A COMPARISON OF BOUNDING METHODS FOR MULTI- FACILITY LOCATION MODELS | 46 |
| | | | A Lower Bound Obtained from the Dual | 46 |
| | | | The Drezner Bound for Multi-Facilty ℓ_p Distance Problems | 50 |
| • | • . | | Bound Comparisons for the Multi-Facility ℓ_p Distance Model | 53 |
| | , | | Comparison of Drezner and Juel Bound for Euclidean Distances | 56 |
| | | | Comparison of the Dual and Love-Yeong Bound | 61 |
| | CHAPTER | 5 | Conclusions | 72 |
| | | | CONCLUSIONS | 73 |
| | | | User Criteria for Selecting A Bounding Method | 73 |
| | | | Future Research | 74 |
| | | ζ <u>Δ</u> · Ρ | rojection Matrix for the Single Facility $\ell_{\rm p}$ Distance Model | 75 |
| | APPENDIA | 7 D. C | alculation of A.A. for the Multi-Facility Projection Matrix | 77 |
| | APPENDIZ | X D. C | (a) = (a) + (a) | 81 |
| | APPENDI | x 0: 0 x D: F | Projection Matrix for the Multi-Facility ℓ_p Distance Model | 83 |

BIBLIOGRAPHY

٠z

. .

8

94

83

J.

vi

LIST OF FIGURES

- .

3.1 Dual (B4) and Love-Yeong (B1) Comparison

a

4-

parison 40

حت ب

vii

<u>Page</u>

LIST OF TABLES

.

ę.

¢

.

.

.

.

م

4

~

| | | <u>Page</u> |
|------|---|-------------|
| 3.1 | Lower Bound Data for Single Facility Samples, $w_j = 1$ | 33 |
| 3.2 | Lower Bound Data for Single Facility Samples, $w_j \in [1, 10]$ | 34 |
| 3.3 | Average Compilation Time (secs) for Program and Bound, $\mathbf{p}=2$ | 35 |
| 3.4 | Average Execution Time (secs) for Solution and Bound, $p = 2$ | 35 |
| 3.5 | BI and B4 Comparison with 1 Outlier | 40 |
| 3.6 | CPU Timings (seconds) for 20 Iterations on CDC CYBER 170/730 | 41 |
| 3.7 | CPU Timings to Reach Equivalent Solutions | 42 |
| 3.8 | Bound Comparisons at Selected Iterations | 43 |
| 2.9 | Comparison of Bounds for Weights $= 1$ | 44 |
| 3.10 | Comparison of Drezner and Dual Bounds | 45 |
| 4.1 | Lower Bound Data for Multi-Facility Samples, $m = 2$ | 54 |
| 4.2 | Lower Bound Data for Multi-Facility Samples, $m = 3$ | 55 |
| 4.3 | Love-Yeong and Dual Comparison for 2 New and 5 Existing Facilities | 63 |
| 4.4 | Love-Yeong and Dual Comparison for 2 New and 10 Existing Facilities | 64 |
| 4.5 | Love-Yeong and Dual Comparison for 2 New and 20 Existing Facilities | 65 |
| 4.6 | Love-Yeong and Dual Comparison for 2 New and 30 Existing Facilities | 66 |
| 4.7 | Love-Yeong and Dual Comparison for 3 New and 5 Existing Facilities | 67 |
| 4.8 | Love-Yeong and Dual Comparison for 3 New and 10 Existing Facilities | 68 |
| 4.9 | Love-Yeong and Dual Comparison for 3 New and 20 Existing Facilities | 69 |
| 4.10 | Love-Yeong and Dual Comparison for 3 New and 30 Existing Facilities | 70 |
| 4.11 | Outlier Data for 2 and 3 New Facilities with $w_{2ir} = 1$ | 71 |

.

٦,

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION /

1.1 Single and Multi-Facility Location Models

Facilities location problems are concerned with finding an optimal location for an object or objects which interact with other objects whose locations are known. The first known formulation of a location problem dates back to the early 17th century. Fermat posed the problem in terms of finding a fourth point in the plane such that the sum of the distances to three fixed points was a minimum. By 1640 Torricelli had solved the three point problem by means of a geometric construction. His procedure was to draw circles circumscribing the equilateral triangles constructed on the sides of the triangle formed by the three fixed points as vertices. The intersection point of the circles provided the location of the fourth point, called the Torricelli point. In 1647 Cavalieri showed that the angle formed by joining any of the two fixed points to the Torricelli point (as vertex) was 120°. In 1834, F. Heinen proved that if the triangle formed with the three fixed points as vertices had one angle greater than or equal to 120°, then the location of the fourth point was at the vertex of the greatest angle. The first generalization of the Fermat problem appeared as an exercise given by Simpson (1750), in which he asked for a minimum weighted sum of distances from three points. Weber (1909) used the three point problem to find the best location for a central facility to produce a single product for a market point while receiving raw materials from two given distinct points. Over the last three hundred years the Fermat problem has also been known as the "Steiner Problem" and "Weber Problem". A more detailed history of this problem is provided by Kuhn (1967).

IJ

In a Mathematical Appendix to Weber's book, G. Pick suggested a solution method using weights and strings. This was the Varignon Frame, a mechanical analog for determining an optimal solution to the single facility straight-line weighted-distance problem. Using a board with holes drilled in it to represent the location of existing facilities, a string is passed through each hole and a weight corresponding to the transportation cost is attached to the lower end of each string. On the top of the board, all the strings are attached at a common knot. When the knot is released it will rest at the optimal location (assuming the absence of friction).

Each weight or demand in the location model can be used to represent a traffic flow or a monetary value for converting the distance travelled between a new and existing facility into a cost. The weight must be taken per unit distance per unit time, e.g. the number of trips per week from various departments to a central storage area or the daily cost of operating a truck per kilometer. An application of the single facility model which includes detailed calculations of trucking costs from a truck terminal to various customers is given by Love, Truscott and Walker (1985).

Weiszfeld (1937) introduced an iterative method for solving the continuous space single facility weighted Euclidean (straight-line) distance location model. The Weiszfeld method remained in relative obscurity for many years until it was re-discovered independently by Miehle (1958), Kuhn and Kuenne (1962) and Cooper (1963). About this same time the single facility location model with rectilinear distances was formulated by Bindschedler and Moore (1961) and Francis (1963). The rectilinear (rectangular) distance measure occurs when travel is restricted to routes which are parallel or orthogonal to each other. Streets which form a rectangular grid and factory floor plans with aisles along rectangular bays may give rise to rectangular or rectilinear distances. If there are one-way streets in a city or obstacles on a rectilinear floor layout, the actual distances travelled in

moving from one point to another can be even greater than the rectangular distance between the two points. By having travel distance represented by a distance function rather than actual distances in the location model, the distance function can be fitted for the appropriate situation using distances ranging from Euclidean to rectangular. The multi-facility rectilinear distance problem was introduced by Francis (1964), but the proposed solution method was limited to describing a region where the new facilities could be located.

If two or more new facilities are to be located simultaneously among a set of existing facilities, then this is an example of a multi-facility problem. Each new facility can interact with the existing facilities and the other new facilities. If there is no interaction between pairs of new facilities then this is a special case of the multi-facility problem, which can be solved as a series of separate single facility models. A more complex multi-facility situation occurs when the interactions between new facilities and existing facilities are not specified. As an example of this location-allocation situation, consider the problem of locating several new warehouses to serve a set of retail outlets where the stores have not been preassigned to a warehouse. The idea is to simultaneously locate the new facilities and to assign the outlets to the appropriate warehouse so that the total cost of serving the warehouses is minimized.

In the past 25 years there has been considerable effort expended on solving facility location problems. If rectilinear distances are used then exact solutions can be determined for the single and multi-facility models. Linear programming was applied to solve rectilinear distance models by Cabot, Francis and Stary (1970) and Wesolowsky and Love (1971a) but the number of constraints and variables increases considerably with the problem size. Linear programming is essentially confined to solving location problems when there are linear constraints on the sites for new facilities, provided that the constrained region for locating the new sites is convex. An example of this would be locating a new machine on a plant floor

where access to overhead cranes would require that certain regions be considered as unsuitable for the new location.

For single and multi-facility models there exists a corresponding dual problem which can be solved independently to obtain identical solutions to the original (primal) model. The dual is a maximization problem and the primal and dual problems are equalized at the optimal solution for either problem given there is no "duality gap". The dual for the single facility Euclidean distance model was formulated by Kuhn and Kuenne (1962) and Bellman (1965). A multi-facility dual has been developed by Francis and Cabot (1970), Love and Kraemer (1973) and Love (1974). Kuhn and Kuenne refer to the lengthy history of the single facility Euclidean distance dual, and Kuhn (1967) provides a more detailed description dating back to the 19th century. The special case for three fixed points and unit weights was published by Fasbender (1846). By constructing an equilateral triangle with maximum height which circumscribed the three fixed points, Fasbender showed that the altitude was equal to the minimum distance sum from the Torricelli point to the three fixed points. The dual models for the single and multi-facility problems do not contain any of the primal variables and can provide alternate computational possibilities in solving for the optimal locations.

1.2 User Decisions in Applying a Location Model

When a location model is used, a number of decisions must be made concerning the number of new facilities to be located, the choice of a distance function, the solution method used to solve for the optimal location or locations, and when to stop the solution procedure if an iterative computational technique is used.

If the number of new facilities has not been specified, the location and minimum cost for a single new facility can be determined. A multi-facility model can then be used to

solve for the optimal locations and minimum cost for two, three, four or more new facilities. By combining the fixed cost for new facilities with their respective variable (transportation) costs, the total cost for locating one or more new facilities is obtained. The lowest total cost will then identify the appropriate number of new facilities that are required.

5

When calculating the transportation cost, a distance function is used to estimate the travel distance between a new and existing facility. Various functions for modelling travel distances have been suggested by Love and Morris (1972, 1979), Ward and Wendell (1980, 1982), Berens and Körling (1984), Love and Dowling (1985) and Juel and Love (1985). The usual procedure is to take a random sample of actual distances travelled between fixed points and use these distances to estimate the parameters in the distance function chosen for that particular application. The distances between any two points can then be calculated as a function of the co-ordinates of the two points and the estimated parameters.

When the number of new facilities to be located, the distance model, and the demands or weights needed to convert distance into cost have been specified, then a solution method can be considered. A closed form solution to the single facility Euclidean distance problem has not been developed, but it is possible to solve the problem using an iterative method. Iterative techniques have been proposed by Weiszfeld (1937), Miehle (1958), Kuhn and Kuenne (1962), Cooper (1963), Katz (1969), Kuhn (1973), Cordelier and Fiorat (1978), Drezner and Wesolowsky (1978b), Ostresh (1978a), Calamai and Conn (1980) and Overton (1983). In contrast to this, an exact solution can easily be found for the single facility rectilinear model. The location-allocation models require the solution of a large number of individual location problems, so that a single computer run can take considerable time.

Iterative procedures which are guaranteed to converge still leave the practitioner with the decision as to when the computation process should be stopped. One of the arbitrary procedures utilized has been to stop when the reduction in the cost at some iteration reaches a "small" value. This could mean that the solution value is proceeding on a long shallow descent, and the process could be stopped when the current location is a considerable geographical distance from an optimal one. Another technique that has been used involves the derivatives (slope) of the cost function at the current solution point. The procedure is stopped when the derivatives are "close" to zero. A method for determining a lower bound on the objective function for a stepwise location-allocation problem with Euclidean distances was given by Ostresh (1978a). Juel (1978, 1984) and Love and Yeong (1981) provided lower bounds to the optimal solution which could be used to terminate the computation procedure when the maximum percentage improvement that could be made in the current cost reached a preset value. Both of these bounds could be applied to single or multi-facility models with a generalized distance function. Drezner (1984) developed a bound for the single-facility Euclidean distance model, and Wendell and Peterson (1984) have outlined a dual approach for obtaining a lower bound to the single facility model with a generalized distance function.

1.3 The Importance of Bounding Methods for Location Models

- 1

The knowledge of how close the current location is to an optimal solution is one which is critical in stopping an iterative procedure. There are three reasons why it is advantageous to compute a lower bound on the optimal cost of a location problem; considerable computer time savings may be achieved, consistency can be obtained in comparing costs when several different problems have to be solved, and user satisfaction can be increased knowing that a solution is as close to optimality as desired.

When using an iterative technique to solve a facility location model, a bounding method allows the user to stop the procedure when the current solution is within a preset percentage error difference of an optimal solution.

Computation time can be considerable when solving a large location-allocation type problem. In some situations an exact solution can be determined. Love (1976) provides an efficient solution for the one dimensional location-allocation problem using dynamic programming where examples with 150 customers and seven new facilities can be solved in six or seven minutes on a Univac 1108. Kuenne and Soland (1972), and Love and Morris (1975b) provide solutions to the two dimensional location-allocation problems with rectangular distances. However, in many cases a heuristic algorithm is required to provide a solution for the location-allocation model, and these do not necessarily provide an optimal solution. Some of the heuristics given by Love and Juel (1982) involve a series of allocation changes, where each change requires the solution of a single facility location model for each new facility in order to determine the optimal locations with respect to a given set of allocations. Using rectangular distance measure in the single facility location model allows an exact solution to be calculated for each new facility location. Then, the total cost for the current set of allocations can be compared with the lowest total cost obtained from all previous allocation changes. If a cost reduction occurs, the best allocation and its cost are updated. A bounding method would allow the use of distance measures other than rectangular in the location model. Each facility location solution from an iterative procedure can be calculated within a preset tolerance of an optimal solution, allowing a consistent basis of comparison between total costs for two different sets of allocations.

of comparison between what comparison between what comparison between what comparison between what comparison of the second seco

and Yeong, Drezner, and the Wendell and Peterson bounding methods will be considered in this thesis. Both Juel (1984) and Elzinga and Hearn (1983) have proven that the Juel bound is always as good or better than the Love and Yeong bound. These have been the only theoretical comparisons that have been published to date. The dual lower bound for the single facility Euclidean distance model has been compared with the Juel, and the Love and Yeong bounds by Wendell and Peterson (1984) but only four small test problems with special structures were given. In order to use the dual as a lower bound, a feasible dual solution must be obtained from the current primal solution and a method for obtaining this dual feasible solution has not been published for the multi-facility case. No comparison has been made between the Drezner bound and the other three bounds, and the single facility Euclidean distance Drezner bound has not been extended to encompass multi-facility models or generalized distances. Some preliminary work by the author has indicated that the Love and Yeong bound may, in most cases, provide a better bound than the dual. This is the rationale for proceeding with a comprehensive comparison of the Love and Yeong bound and the dual, since the Juel bound is always as good or better than the Love and Yeong bound.

1.4 Objectives of the Thesis

The purposes of this thesis are as follows.

 Given a single or multi-facility location model with a generalized distance function and the current location or locations for the new facilities as determined by some iterative procedure, develop a mathematical method to calculate a feasible solution to the dual so that the value of the dual objective function can be used as a lower bound to the optimal solution.

- 2. Write computer programs to implement this technique and provide computational results for the single and multi-facility cases in order to provide a comprehensive comparison of the dual and Love-Yeong bounds.
- 3. Extend the Drezner bound for the single facility Euclidean distances model to include a generalized distance function and develop a bound for the multi-facility model with a generalized distance function.
- Provide computational and, where possible, theoretical comparisons of the four bounding methods for single and multi-facility location models.

CHAPTER 2

SIGNIFICANT PRIOR RESEARCH

In this chapter, mathematical models for the single facility location problem will be discussed along with properties and solution methods for these models. The dual problem will be given for the single facility Euclidean distance model. Four bounding methods will then be described that can be used with single facility location methods. Mathematical models for the multi-facility location problem will be introduced, and properties and solution methods discussed. The duals for the multi-facility models will be presented and the two bounding methods that are available for use with multi-facility iterative solution techniques will be described. ċ,

Single Facility Location Models

The single facility $\ell_{\rm p}$ distance location problem is given as:

minimize
$$W_p(x) = \sum_{j=1}^n w_j \ell_p(x, a_j)$$
 (2.1
n is the number of existing facilities (or "demand points"),

where

2

2.1

w_j converts the distance between the new facility and existing facility j into cost,

 $\mathbf{x}' = (\mathbf{x_1}, \mathbf{x_2})$ is the location of the new facility on the plane,

 $a_j' = (a_{j1}, a_{j2})$ is the location of existing facility j,

 $\ell_p(\textbf{x}, a_j)$ is the distance between the new facility and existing facility j where

$$\ell_{p}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) = (|\mathbf{x}_{1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}|^{p} + |\mathbf{x}_{2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}|^{p})^{1/p}$$

and the prime denotes transpose.

We will use the notation $D(x,a_j)$ to represent a generalized distance function, for which $\ell_p(x,a_j)$ is a special case and $d_2(x,a_j)$ or $\ell_2(x,a_j)$ will be used to denote Euclidean distances. This

chapter will focus on models where the new and existing facilities are treated as points in the plane, demands and costs are known, and transportation costs are assumed to be proportional to distance travelled.

If p = 1, the rectilinear distance problem is given by:

minimize
$$W_1(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_j (|x_1 - a_{j1}| + |x_2 - a_{j2}|)$$
 (2.2)

Since $W_1(x)$ is separable, it can be written as the sum of two functions, $W_{11}(x_1)$ and $W_{12}(x_2)$ where

$$W_{1k}(\mathbf{x}_{k}) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j} |\mathbf{x}_{k} - \mathbf{a}_{jk}|$$

for k = 1,2. Minimizing $W_1(x)$ is equivalent to minimizing $W_{11}(x_1)$ and $W_{12}(x_2)$ separately as: min $W_1(x) = \min W_{11}(x_1) + \min W_{12}(x_2)$ (2.3)

Each problem involving

$$\min W_{1k}(x_k)$$
x.

can be easily solved, as shown by Francis (1963), to yield an exact optimal solution $x^{\bullet \prime} = (x_1^{\bullet}, x_2^{\bullet})$. For p > 1, no such exact solution method for (2.1) has been found to date.

For p=2, the Euclidean distance model becomes

X₁

minimize
$$W_2(x) = \sum_{j=1}^n w_j [(x_1 - a_{j1})^2 + (x_2 - a_{j2})^2]^{1/2}$$
. (2.4)

As mentioned previously in the introduction, Weiszfeld (1937) proposed an iterative solution to problem (2.4) and several others rediscovered it independently in the late 1950's and early 1960's. Weiszfeld (1937), Katz (1969), Kuhn (1963), Kuhn and Keunne (1962), Ostresh (1978b) and others have discussed the convergence properties of the iterative method. While other iterative procedures exist for solving problem (2.4), the Weiszfeld technique is so wellknown that a generalized version of it is used to provide solutions for all test problems used in this thesis. The iterative technique was developed by equating the two partial derivatives of $W_2(x)$ in (2.4) to zero, and isolating an x_1 or x_2 term on one side of each equation to obtain an expression that could be used in a recursive manner. At iteration k, a point $x^{k'} = (x_1^k, x_2^k)$ is generated by

٤

ہر

$$x_{t}^{k} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{w_{j} a_{jk}}{d_{2}(x_{k-1}, a_{j})} / \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{w_{j}}{d_{2}(x_{k-1}, a_{j})}, \text{ for } t = 1, 2.$$
(2.5)

This procedure assumes that the optimal location for the new facility does not coincide with an existing location a_j , j=1,...,n. It has been shown by Kuhn (1962) that each existing facility location can be checked to determine if it is the optimal location for the new facility. Kuhn proved that the rth existing location (a_{r1} , a_{r2}) is optimal if and only if

$$\left(\left[\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq r}}^{n} \frac{w_{j}(a_{r1}-a_{j1})}{d_{2}(a_{r},a_{j})}\right]^{2} + \left[\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq r}}^{n} \frac{w_{j}(a_{r2}-a_{j2})}{d_{2}(a_{r},a_{j})}\right]^{2}\right)^{L^{2}} \leq w_{r}.$$
(2.6)

If none of the existing facility locations satisfies condition (2.6), then the iterative procedure can be used to determine the optimal location of the new facility.

An upper and lower bound for the Euclidean distance optimal solution was given by Pritsker and Ghare (1970, 1972), who discovered a relationship between the rectilinear and Euclidean distance solution values. If $W_2(x_s^*)$, $W_{11}(x_{1R}^*)$ and $W_{12}(x_{2R}^*)$ represent the objective function values for the optimal Euclidean distance and rectangular distance solution values, then

$$W_{2}(x_{R}^{\bullet}) \geq W_{2}(x_{s}^{\bullet}) \geq [(W_{11}(x_{1R}^{\bullet}))^{2} + (W_{12}(x_{2R}^{\bullet}))^{2}]^{1/2}.$$
(2.7)

When the optimal location for a new facility occurs at an existing facility location, discontinuities occur in the derivatives of $W_p(x)$, as noted by Love (1967, 1968). For 1 , Love $and Morris (1972) show that the <math>\ell_p$ distance function has convexity and derivative discontinuity properties similar to the Euclidean distance function.

In order to solve the problem of discontinuities in the derivatives of $W_p(x)$ in (2.1), a uniformly convergent fitted function with continuous derivatives was developed by Love (1969). A hyperbolic approximation was suggested by Wesolowsky and Love (1972) and Eyster, White and Wierville (1973). The hyperbolic approximation to problem (2.1), formulated by Eyster, White and Wierville for p = 2, was adapted by Love and Morris (1975a) by replacing the ℓ_p distance function with

$$\ell_{ph}(a, b) = \left[\sum_{t=1}^{N} |a_t - b_t|^p + \epsilon\right]^{1/p},$$

where a and b are two points in N-dimension space. Verdini (1976) has shown that the hyperbolic approximation using ℓ_{ph} is not appropriate when using the Weiszfeld procedure for the general situation of $p \ge 1$. Morris and Verdini (1979) replace the ℓ_p distance function with

$$L_{pj}(\mathbf{x}) = \left\{ \sum_{t=1}^{N} \left[(\mathbf{x}_t - \mathbf{a}_{jt})^2 + \varepsilon \right]^{p/2} \right\}^{\frac{1}{p}}, \quad p \ge 1, \varepsilon > 0$$

where x and a, are N-dimensional vectors, and show that L_{pj} is differentiable and strictly convex. Using the hyperbolic approximation suggested by Verdini and Morris (1979), problem (2.1) can be written as

minimize
$$W_{ph}(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_j \left(\left[(x_1 - a_{j1})^2 + \varepsilon \right]^{p/2} + \left[(x_2 - a_{j2})^2 + \varepsilon \right]^{p/2} \right)^{1/p}$$
 (2.8)

The approximation function $W_{ph}(x)$ always gives values greater than the true objective function $W_p(x)$; the maximum difference is given by

$$\max[W_{ph}(x) - W_{p}(x)] = 2^{1/p} \epsilon^{1/2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j} \right).$$
 (2.9)

This difference was given by Love and Yeong (1981) using a concept and property developed by Love (1969) in establishing the uniform convergence of his fitted function. $W_{ph}(x)$ has the properties that it is strictly convex and all orders of derivatives are continuous at all points. The practitioner can come very close to minimizing $W_p(x)$ by choosing a small value for ε when minimizing $W_{ph}(x)$. Under certain conditions an iterative procedure is not required to solve for the optimal solution. The optimality condition (2.6) for a fixed point in the single facility Euclidean distance model has been extended to include generalized distances which include ℓ_p distances as a special case. Juel and Love (1981a) have proved that the rth existing facility $a_r = (a_{r1}, a_{r2})$ is optimal if and only if

14

$$[|\mathbf{R}_{r1}|^{p'(p-1)} + |\mathbf{R}_{r2}|^{p'(p-1)}]^{(p-1)/p} \le w_r$$

where

$$R_{rk} = \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq r}}^{n} \frac{w_j \operatorname{sign} (a_{rk} - a_{jk}) |a_{rk} - a_{jk}|^{p-1}}{[\ell_p(a_r, a_j)]^{p-1}} \quad \text{for } k = 1, 2 \text{ and } p > 1 .$$
(2.10)

In the limiting case as $p \rightarrow 1^+$, the rectilinear distance model is minimized at the point a_r if and only if

$$\max(|\mathbf{R}_{r1}|, |\mathbf{R}_{r2}|) \le w_r$$

Witzgall (1965) showed that if one weight, w_t , was greater than or equal to the sum of the remaining weights, then $x^* = a_t$ was the optimal location. The Witzgall condition does not provide as strong a result as the condition given by (2.10).^{*} Juel and Love (1982) have provided conditions where an optimal location can be constructed.

In situations which do not fit the previously mentioned special cases, the practitioner is faced with using an iterative procedure to determine the optimal solution. The Weiszfeld technique given by (2.5) can be extended to include the hyperbolic approximation (2.8). By setting the partial derivatives equal to zero and isolating x_1 and x_2 on one side, Verdini (1976) and Morris and Verdini (1979) showed that a recursive relationship can be obtained for the solution at the kth iteration as $x^{k'} = (x_1^k, x_2^k)$ with

$$\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k} = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\mathbf{a}_{jt} \mathbf{w}_{j}}{\mathbf{d}'(\mathbf{x}^{k-1}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) \mathbf{d}''(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k-1}, \mathbf{a}_{jt})}}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\mathbf{w}_{j}}{\mathbf{d}'(\mathbf{x}^{k-1}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) \mathbf{d}''(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k-1}, \mathbf{a}_{jt})}}$$

15

)

where

 $d'(x^{k-1}, a_j) = \left[\left((x_1^{k-1} - a_{j1})^2 + \epsilon \right)^{p/2} + \left((x_2^{k-1} - a_{j2})^2 + \epsilon \right)^{p/2} \right]^{(p-1)/2}$

and

$$d''(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k-1}, \mathbf{a}_{jt}) \doteq \left[(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k-1} - \mathbf{a}_{jt})^{2} + \varepsilon \right]^{(2-p)/2} \quad \text{for } t = 1, 2.$$
(2.11)

Setting c to a very small number such as $1.0x10^{-6}$ provides protection against the possibility of division by zero in a computer program when the optimal location converges quite closely to an existing facility. A convergence proof is given by Verdini (1976) for p=1 and p=2 and in general for $1 \le p \le 2$ by Morris (1981).

The dual formulation of the single facility Euclidean distance model (2.4) was given by Kuhn (1962) and Witzgall (1965) and appears implicitly in a dynamic programming procedure by Bellman (1965). Kuhn (1967) provides a history of the dual as well as a geometric and algebraic derivation of it. The dual for the single facility Euclidean distance problem (2.4) is

maximize
$$-\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{j} U_{j}$$
 (2.12)
subject to $\sum_{j=1}^{n} U_{j} = \vec{0}$

where

 $U_j' = (u_j, v_j)$ are dual variables.

Francis and Cabot (1972) have described properties for the single and multi-facility Euclidean distance duals. One of the properties of the single facility Euclidean distance dual is that the dual variables at optimality represent the direction vectors from the existing facilities to the optimal location, providing the optimal solution is not at an existing facility location. When the optimal location coincides with an existing facility, the dual variables are zero. This property can be expressed as

 $|U_j| \le w_j$ for j = 1, ..., n

$$u_{j}^{\bullet} = w_{j}(x_{1}^{\bullet} - a_{j1})/d_{2}(x^{\bullet}, a_{j})$$

and $v_{j}^{\bullet} = w_{j}(x_{2}^{\bullet} - a_{j2})/d_{2}(x^{\bullet}, a_{j})$ for $x^{\bullet} \neq a_{j}$, otherwise
 $u_{j}^{\bullet} = v_{j}^{\bullet} = 0$ for $x^{\bullet} = a_{j}$. (2.13)

Bellman (1965) proposed a dual similar to (2.12) but it included the equalities $|U_j| = w_j$ for j=1,...,n, since the possible discontinuities in the derivatives of the primal problem were ignored. The single facility dual containing a mixture of ℓ_1 and ℓ_2 norms was given by Planchart and Hurter (1975), where the dual was solved by means of a decomposition method.

Given an optimal dual solution, the optimal primal solution can be calculated using $x^* = a_j + k_j U_j^*$ where $k_j \ge 0$. If all $|U_j^*| = w_j$, then using any two of the a_j and the corresponding U_j^* , four equations in four unknowns can be solved to obtain x^* . If $|U_t^*| < w_t$, then $x^* = a_t$.

2.2 Bounding Methods for Single Facility Location Models

The bound given by Love and Yeong (1981) for the single facility Euclidean distance model (2.4) is (2.14)

$$W_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{*}) \geq W_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}) - \overline{\sigma}(\mathbf{x}^{k}) |\nabla W_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k})|$$

$$(2.14)$$

where Ω is the convex hull of the a_{j} ,

 $\overline{\sigma}(\mathbf{x}) = \max \left[d_2(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \right],$ $\mathbf{y} \in \Omega$

 $\nabla W_p(x)$ is the gradient of $W_p(x)$, and x^k is the value of x at the kth iteration of the solution procedure. The bound given by Juel (1984) is

$$W_{2}^{l}(x^{*}) \ge W_{2}(x^{k}) - \nabla W_{2}(x^{k})' x^{k} + \min[\nabla W_{2}(x^{k})' y]$$
(2.15)

where the prime denotes transpose. These two methods are applicable to both single and multi-facility location problems and can accommodate generalized ℓ_p distances. Juel (1984)

and Elzinga and Hearn (1983) have proved that the Juel bound (2.15) must always be at least as good as the bound (2.14) given by Love and Yeong.

17

A third bound is given by Drezner (1984) for the single facility case with Euclidean distances. Drezner showed that

$$W_{2}(x^{*}) \geq \min_{x_{1},x_{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} [w_{j}/d_{2}(a_{j},x^{k})][|x_{1}-a_{j1}||a_{j1}-x_{1}^{k}|+|x_{2}-a_{j2}||a_{j2}-x_{2}^{k}|].$$
(2.16)

At each iteration of a solution process this bound is evaluated by solving the following rectilinear distance problem:

$$\min_{\mathbf{x}_{1}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathbf{w}_{j}' |\mathbf{x}_{1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}| + \frac{\min}{\mathbf{x}_{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathbf{w}_{j}' |\mathbf{x}_{2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}| ,$$

where the "created" weights w_j' and w_j'' are defined as

$$w_{j}' = [w_{j}/d_{2}(a_{j}, x^{k})] |a_{j1} - x_{1}^{k}|,$$

and 🔊

$$w_j^* = [w_j/d_2(a_j, x^k)] |a_{j2} - x_2^k|$$
 for $j = 1, ..., n$.

A fourth bounding method proposed by Wendell and Peterson (1984) utilized the dual of the location problem. The dual of (2.4) is given by

maximize
$$-\sum_{j=1}^{n} U_{j}' a_{j}$$
, (2.17a)

subject to
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} U_j = \vec{0}$$
 (2.17b)

$$|U_j| \le w_j$$
, $j = 1, ..., n.$ (2.17c)

where the U_j are vectors of dual variables. To evaluate the dual at each iteration of the solution procedure, a dual feasible solution must be generated using the current primal solution. When the dual feasible solution has been calculated, the corresponding dual objective function can then be used as a lower bound for the optimal primal solution. Wendell and Peterson construct a vector from the current primal solution which is then projected into the subspace (2.17b) where

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} U_{j} = \vec{0} ,$$

and then the resulting projected vector is shrunk to satisfy the norm constraints (2.17c). Unfortunately no description was given of the projection method used and only four small examples were included in the paper comparing the Love and Yeong, Juel, and dual bounds.

2.3 <u>Multi-Facility Location Models</u>

The first multi-facility location model was the rectangular distance model developed by Francis (1964) to locate several new facilities where each new facility could interact with a group of existing facilities as well as the remaining new facilities. The transportation costs or interactions between two new facilities are assumed to be proportional to the distance between them. The multi-facility ℓ_p distance model is given by

$$WM_{p}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij} \ell_{p}(\mathbf{x}_{i}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir} \ell_{p}(\mathbf{x}_{i}, \mathbf{x}_{r})$$
(2.18)

where

m 'is the number of new facilities.

n is the number of existing facilities,

. w_{1ij} is the nonnegative parameter which converts the distance between new facility i and existing facility j into cost,

 w_{2ir} is the nonnegative parameter which converts the distance between the ith and rth new facilities into cost ($i \neq r$),

 $\mathbf{x}_{i}' = (\mathbf{x}_{i1}, \mathbf{x}_{i2})$ are the location coordinates of new facility i,

 $a_j' = (a_{j1}, a_{j2})$ are the location coordinates of existing facility j, and p is the ℓ_p distance parameter.

.

Substituting p = 1 yields the rectilinear distance model:

minimize WM₁(x) =
$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij} (|\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}| + |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}|)$$

+ $\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir} (|\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{x}_{r1}| + |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{x}_{r2}|).$ (2.19)

This rectilinear distance model has convexity and separability properties similar to the single facility rectangular distance model (2.2), and can be written as

$$\min WM_{1}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\min}{\mathbf{x}_{11}, \dots, \mathbf{x}_{m1}} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij} |\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}| + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir} |\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{x}_{r1}| \right] \\ + \frac{\min}{\mathbf{x}_{12}, \dots, \mathbf{x}_{m2}} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij} |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}| + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir} |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{x}_{r2}| \right].$$
(2.20)

Exact solutions to the multi-facility rectilinear distance problem were obtained by Cabot, Francis and Stary (1970) and Wesolowsky and Love (1971a) using linear programming. The Wesolowsky and Love linear programming formulation introduces an equality constraint and two new variables for every absolute value term in (2.19), which makes its use impractical for large multi-facility problems. The linear programming approach does allow the introduction of additional constraints when restrictions on the locations of new facilities are required. There are a great number of discontinuities in the partial derivatives of $WM_1(x)$; this makes the use of gradient search techniques infeasible. Discontinuities occur when a new facility coincides with an existing location or with another new facility as reported by Love (1967, 1968, 1969). Several methods are available to solve large scale problems. Wesolowsky and Love (1972) used a hyperbolic approximation to the terms involving rectangular distances. Approximating $WM_1(x)$ by a non-linear convex function with continuous partial derivatives allowed an iterative gradient descent method to be used to determine an optimal solution to the approximation function. An algorithm was proposed by Juel and Love (1976) which uses a

÷

modified edge descent procedure and can solve large problems in short computational times (1 second for m = 70 and n = 350 on a Univac 1110).

The Euclidean distance multi-facility problem is

l

$$\min WM_{2}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij} [(\mathbf{x}_{11} - \mathbf{a}_{j1})^{2} + (\mathbf{x}_{12} - \mathbf{a}_{j2})^{2}]^{1/2} + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir} [(\mathbf{x}_{11} - \mathbf{a}_{j1})^{2} + (\mathbf{x}_{12} - \mathbf{x}_{r2})^{2}]^{1/2}$$
(2.21)

Various approaches have been employed to solve this problem. Vergin and Rogers (1967) used a heuristic which located all the new facilities in a step-wise manner, and then took each new facility in turn and located it optimally, considering all other facilities as being fixed. This procedure was continued until no further improvement could be made to the objective function value. A three-dimensional formulation of (2.21) was solved by Love (1969) using a convex programming algorithm after first using the Method of Fitted Functions to overcome the discontinuities in the partial derivatives of the objective function.

Francis and Cabot (1972) described the dual for the unconstrained Euclidean distance problem but no solution method was given. Although the primal problem (2.21) has discontinuities in the partial derivatives, the dual does not have these differentiability problems. Love and Kraemer (1973) used a nonlinear decomposition technique to solve the multi-facility Euclidean dual with linear constraints. For the unconstrained rectangular distances problem, the dual was given by Cabot, Francis and Stary (1970) and Wesolowsky and Love (1971a) provided duals for the linearly constrained and unconstrained cases. The Euclidean distance multi-facility dual for the primal problem (2.21) has dual variables defined by $U_{1ij}' = (u_{1ij}, v_{1ij})$ for i=1,...,m; j=1,...,n and $U_{2ir}' = (u_{2ir}, v_{2ir})$ for i=1,...,m-1; r=i+1,...,m.

The multi-facility dual problem is expressed as

$$\begin{aligned} \max \min z &= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{j}' \ U_{1ij} \end{aligned} \tag{2.22} \\ \text{subject to} &= \sum_{r=1}^{i-1} U_{2ri} + \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} U_{2ir} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} U_{1ij} = \vec{0} \quad \text{for } i = 1, ..., m \\ & |U_{1ij}| \leq w_{1ij} \qquad \qquad i = 1, ..., m; \ j = 1, ..., n \\ & |U_{2ir}| \leq w_{2ir} \qquad \qquad \qquad i = 1, ..., m-1; \ r = i+1, ..., m. \end{aligned}$$

The inequalities arise in the situation where $x_i = a_j$, in which case $|U_{1ij}| = 0$ (otherwise $|U_{1ij}| = w_{1ij}$), or when $x_i = x_r$, in which case $|U_{2ir}| = 0$ (otherwise $|U_{2ir}| = w_{2ir}$). One of the properties given by Francis and Cabot (1972) for the multi-facility Euclidean distance dual provides a relationship between the dual and primal variables at optimality. The U^*_{1ij} dual variables satisfy the condition that the line through the existing facility a_j which is parallel to U^*_{1ij} passes through the optimal new facility location x^*_i , providing that the new facility does not coincide with the existing facility a_j . Similarly, if new facilities x^*_i and x^*_r do not coincide, then the line through new facility x^*_r parallel to U^*_{2ir} passes through x^*_i . If a new facility coincides with an existing facility or if two new facilities coincide, the corresponding dual variables are zero and vice versa. This property can be expressed as

$$u^{*}_{1ij} = w_{1ij}(x^{*}_{i1} - a_{j1}) [(x^{*}_{i1} - a_{j1})^{2} + (x^{*}_{i2} - a_{j2})^{2}]^{1/2}$$

$$v^{*}_{1ij} = w_{1ij}(x^{*}_{i2} - a_{j2}) [(x^{*}_{i1} - a_{j1})^{2} + (x^{*}_{i2} - a_{j2})^{2}]^{1/2} \quad \text{for } x^{*} \neq a_{j}$$

$$u^{*}_{2ir} = w_{2ir}(x^{*}_{i1} - x^{*}_{r1}) [(x^{*}_{i1} - x^{*}_{r1})^{2} + (x^{*}_{i2} - x^{*}_{r2})^{2}]^{1/2},$$

$$v^{*}_{2ir} = w_{2ir}(x^{*}_{i2} - x^{*}_{r2}) [(x^{*}_{i1} - x^{*}_{r1})^{2} + (x^{*}_{i2} - x^{*}_{r2})^{2}]^{1/2} \quad \text{for } x^{*}_{i} \neq x^{*}_{r},$$

$$(2.23)$$

otherwise

 $u^{*}_{1ij} = v^{*}_{1ij} = 0$ if $x^{*}_{i} = a_{j}$ and $u^{*}_{2ir} = v^{*}_{2ir} = 0$ if $x^{*}_{i} = x^{*}_{r}$.

The multi-facility Euclidean distances optimal solution can also be bounded by condition (2.7), as shown by Pritsker and Ghare (1970, 1972). Sufficient conditions for optimal

:"

facility locations to coincide for some multi-facility problems are given by Juel and Love (1980). In some cases, by checking the interfacility weights to determine if they satisfy a few simple inequalities, it is possible to solve a multi-facility problem. Also, a multi-facility generalization of Witzgall's majority rule was given by Juel and Love, whereby if

$$w_{111} \ge \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1j1} + \sum_{i=2}^{m} w_{21i}^{i}$$

then $x^{*}_{1} = a_{1}$ may be assumed without loss of generality.

To solve the ℓ_p distance multi-facility problem, an approximating function $WM_{ph}(x)$ can be used to overcome the problems of differentiability of (2.18), as proposed by Wesolowsky and Love (1972) and Eyster, White and Wierville (1973). The multi-facility hyperbolic approximation version of (2.8) as given by Morris and Verdini (1979) is:

$$WM_{ph}(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij} \left\{ \left[(x_{i1} - a_{j1})^2 + \varepsilon \right]^{p/2} + \left[(x_{i2} - a_{j2})^2 + \varepsilon \right]^{p/2} \right\}^{1/p} + \sum_{i < r} w_{2ir} \left\{ \left[(x_{i1} - a_{r1})^2 + \varepsilon \right]^{p/2} + \left[(x_{i2} - x_{r2})^2 + \varepsilon \right]^{p/2} \right\}^{1/p}, \quad (2.24)$$

where c > 0. They show that the function $WM_{ph}(x)$ is strictly convex and is differentiable to any order everywhere. It can easily be shown that $WM_{ph}(x)$ is uniformly convergent to $WM_{p}(x)$ as $c \rightarrow 0$, since

$$\max[WM_{ph}(x) - WM_{p}(x)] = 2^{1/p} \varepsilon^{1/2} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij} + \sum_{i < r} w_{2ir} \right),$$

X

as given by Love and Yeong (1981). Morris and Verdini (1979) showed that the iterative sequence given by (2.11) generalizes to the multi-facility case for r = 1,...,m and s = 1,2 as:

$$r_{rs}^{k+1} = (A+B)/(C+D)$$
 (2.25)

where

$$\begin{split} A &= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{w_{2ri} x_{is}^{k}}{\{\![(x_{r1}^{k} - x_{i1}^{k})^{2} + \varepsilon]^{p'^{2}} + [(x_{r2}^{k} - x_{i2}^{k})^{2} + \varepsilon]^{p'^{2}}\}^{(p-1)/p} [(x_{rs}^{k} - x_{is}^{k})^{2} + \varepsilon]^{(2-p)/2}}, \\ B &= \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{w_{1rj} a_{js}}{\{\![(x_{r1}^{k} - a_{j1})^{2} + \varepsilon]^{p'^{2}} + [(x_{r2}^{k} - a_{j2})^{2} + \varepsilon]^{p'^{2}}\}^{(p-1)/p} [(x_{rs}^{k} - a_{js})^{2} + \varepsilon]^{(2-p)/2}}, \\ C &= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{w_{2ri}}{\{\![(x_{r1}^{k} - x_{i1}^{k})^{2} + \varepsilon]^{p'^{2}} + [(x_{r2}^{k} - x_{i2}^{k})^{2} + \varepsilon]^{p'^{2}}\}^{(p-1)/p} [(x_{rs}^{k} - x_{is}^{k})^{2} + \varepsilon]^{(2-p)/2}}, \end{split}$$

23

and

$$D = \sum_{j=1}^{w} \frac{r_j}{\left[\left[(x_{r_1}^k - a_{j1})^2 + \varepsilon\right]^{p/2} + \left[(x_{r_2}^k - a_{j2})^2 + \varepsilon\right]^{p/2}\right]^{(p-1)/p} \left[(x_{r_3}^k - a_{j_3})^2 + \varepsilon\right]^{(2-p)/2}}.$$
1978b) has proved that for a contained of the formula of

Ostresh (1978b) has proved that for p=2 this generalized Weiszfeld sequence is strictly decreasing and Morris (1981) has given a convergence proof for $1 \le p \le 2$.

Dual formulations for the unconstrained and linearly constrained ℓ_p distance location model and the hyperbolic approximating function model were provided by Love (1974). The dual for the multi-facility location model was extended by Juel and Love (1981) to include generalized distances and linear constraints. For the ℓ_p distance primal (2.18), the corresponding dual, as given by Love (1974), is

$$\begin{aligned} \max \min z_{p}(U) &= \max \min z_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{j}' U_{1ij} \end{aligned} \tag{2.26} \\ \text{subject to} \quad -\sum_{r=1}^{i-1} U_{2ri} + \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} U_{2ir} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} U_{1ij} = \vec{0} \quad i = 1, ..., m \\ & |U_{1ij}|_{q} = w_{1ij} \qquad \qquad i = 1, ..., m ; j = 1, ..., n \\ & |U_{2ir}|_{q} = w_{2ir} \qquad \qquad i = 1, ..., m-1 ; r = i+1, ..., m. \end{aligned}$$

that the derivatives $\partial WM(x) / \partial x_{ki}$ k = 1,2 and i = 1,..., m exist and that $1/p + 1/q = 1$. Up is

given that the derivatives $\partial WM(x)/\partial x_{ki} = 1,2$ and i = 1,...,m exist and that 1/p + 1/q = 1, $|\cdot|_q$ the ℓ_q norm, and $U_{1ij}' = (u_{1ij}, v_{1ij})$ and $U_{2ir}' = (u_{2ir}, v_{2ir})$ are dual variables.

Love (1974) also showed that the hyperbolic approximating function

$$\min WMH_{p}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij} [|\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}|^{p} + |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}|^{p} + \varepsilon^{p}]^{1/p} + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir} [|\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{x}_{r1}|^{p} + |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{x}_{r2}|^{p} + \varepsilon^{p}]^{1/p}$$

$$(2.27)$$

has a corresponding dual

$$\max D_{ph}(U, Z) = \max - \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_j U_{1ij} - \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \varepsilon Z_{1ij}$$
(2.28)

subject to

i = 1

$$\begin{array}{l} \mathbf{o} & -\sum\limits_{\mathbf{r}=1}^{\mathbf{U}} \mathbf{U}_{2\mathbf{r}\mathbf{i}} + \sum\limits_{\mathbf{r}=i+1}^{\mathbf{U}} \mathbf{U}_{2\mathbf{i}\mathbf{r}} + \sum\limits_{\mathbf{j}=1}^{\mathbf{U}} \mathbf{U}_{1\mathbf{i}\mathbf{j}} = \overline{\mathbf{0}} \quad \mathbf{i} = 1, ..., \mathbf{m} \\ \\ [(\|\mathbf{U}_{1\mathbf{i}\mathbf{j}}\|_{\mathbf{q}})^{\mathbf{q}} + |\mathbf{Z}_{1\mathbf{i}\mathbf{j}}|^{\mathbf{q}}]^{1/\mathbf{p}} = \mathbf{w}_{1\mathbf{i}\mathbf{j}} \quad \mathbf{i} = 1, ..., \mathbf{m} ; \mathbf{j} = 1, ..., \mathbf{n} \\ \\ [(\|\mathbf{U}_{1\mathbf{i}\mathbf{j}}\|_{\mathbf{q}})^{\mathbf{q}} + |\mathbf{Z}_{1\mathbf{i}\mathbf{j}}|^{\mathbf{q}}]^{1/\mathbf{p}} = \mathbf{w}_{1\mathbf{i}\mathbf{j}} \quad \mathbf{i} = 1, ..., \mathbf{m} ; \mathbf{j} = 1, ..., \mathbf{n} \\ \\ \\ [(\|\mathbf{U}_{1\mathbf{i}\mathbf{j}}\|_{\mathbf{q}})^{\mathbf{q}} + |\mathbf{Z}_{1\mathbf{i}\mathbf{j}}|^{\mathbf{q}}]^{1/\mathbf{p}} = \mathbf{w}_{1\mathbf{i}\mathbf{j}} \quad \mathbf{i} = 1, ..., \mathbf{m} ; \mathbf{j} = 1, ..., \mathbf{n} \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \end{array}$$

$$[([U_{2ir}]_q)^q + |Z_{1ir}|^q]^{1/p} = w_{2ir}^{1/(p-1)} \qquad i = 1, ..., m-1; r = i+1, ..., m.$$

where $Z' = (Z_{111}, ..., Z_{11n}, ..., Z_{1mn})$ is a vector of additional variables and $\|\cdot\|_q$ is the ℓ_q norm.

Love (1974) has shown that

$$\lim_{r \to 0} D_{ph}(U, Z) = D_{p}(U),$$

so that the dual of the limiting case when $\epsilon \to 0$ is given by

♦ (2.29)

 $\max_{i} - \sum_{j} \sum_{i} a_{j}^{i} U_{lij}$

 $|U_{2ir}|_q = w_{2ir}$ or 0

subject to $-\sum_{r=1}^{i-1} U_{2ri} + \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} U_{2ir} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} U_{1ij} = \vec{0}$ i = 1, ..., m $\left|\mathbf{U}_{1ij}\right|_{\mathbf{q}} = \mathbf{w}_{1ij}$ or 0, i = 1, ..., m; j = 1, ..., n

$$i = 1, ..., m - 1; r = i + 1, ..., m$$

If the solution $U_{2ir} = 0$ is obtained, then $x_i = x_r$ in the optimal primal solution, and if $U_{1ij} = 0$

then $x_i = a_j$. The converse is also true.

2.4 Bounding Methods for Multi-Facility Location Models

Two of the bounding methods for single facility location models have been applied to multi-facility ℓ_p distance location models. The extension of the Love-Yeong bound (2.14) and Juel bound (2.15) to include the multi-facility case (2.18) was given by Love and Yeong (1981) as

$$WM_{p}(\mathbf{x}^{*}) \geq WM_{p}(\mathbf{x}^{k}) - \overline{\sigma}(\mathbf{x}^{k}) |\nabla WM_{p}(\mathbf{x}^{k})|, \qquad (2.30)$$

and

$$WM_{p}(\mathbf{x}^{*}) \geq WM_{p}(\mathbf{x}^{k}) - \nabla WM_{p}(\mathbf{x}^{k})' \mathbf{x}^{k} + \frac{\min}{\mathbf{y} \in \overline{\Omega}} \{\nabla WM_{p}(\mathbf{x}^{k})' \mathbf{y}\},$$
(2.31)

where

$$\overline{\Omega} = \{s = (s_1, ..., s_m) | s_i \in \Omega, i = 1, ..., m\}, \ \Omega \text{ is the convex hull of the } a_{j^i} \text{ } j = 1, ..., n \}$$

$$\overline{\sigma}(\mathbf{x}) = \max \{ \mathbf{d}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \mid \mathbf{y} \in \overline{\Omega} \}$$

and $x^{k'} = (x_{11}^{k}, x_{12}^{k}, ..., x_{m1}^{k}, x_{m2}^{k})$ is a point generated by a computational procedure at the kth iteration. When an approximation function $WM_{ph}(x)$, as in (2.24), is utilized then the bounds can be calculated using

$$WM_{p}(x^{*}) \geq WM_{ph}(x^{k}) = \overline{\sigma} |\nabla WM_{ph}(x^{k})| - 2^{1/p} \varepsilon^{1/2} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij} + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir} \right), \quad (2.32)$$

and

$$WM_{p}(x^{\bullet}) \geq WM_{ph}(x^{k}) + \frac{\min}{y \in \Omega} \{\nabla WM_{ph}(x^{k}), [y - x^{k}]\} - 2^{1/p} \varepsilon^{1/2} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij} + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir}\right).$$
(2.33)

No generalization of the single facility Drezner bound (2.16) to include an ℓ_p distance function and/or the multi-facility problem has been published to date. Also, the dual has not been used to bound the multi-facility primal since a method for obtaining a feasible dual solution from the current primal solution is required.

25

10 00

\$

CHAPTER 3

A COMPARISON OF BOUNDING METHODS FOR SINGLE FACILITY

LOCATION MODELS

In this chapter, the dual and Drezner bounds will be developed for the single facility location model using ℓ_p distances. A projection matrix technique will be used to generate dual feasible solutions from a given primal solution, so that the dual can be used as a lower bound to the primal problem. Results will be given for a computational comparison of the Juel, Love and Yeong, Drezner and dual bounds, followed by conclusions regarding the use of these bounding methods.

3.1 A Lower Bound Obtained from the Dual <u>د</u>_.

Recall that the single facility location problem with $\ell_{\rm p}$ distances is given by

minimize
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j} \ell_{p}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{a}_{j})$$
(3.1)

and the corresponding dual by

2.

maximize
$$-\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{j}' U_{j}$$
 (3.2a)

subject to
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} U_j = \vec{0}$$
 (3.2b)

$$|\mathbf{U}_{\mathbf{j}|\mathbf{q}} \le \mathbf{w}_{\mathbf{j}} \tag{3.2c}$$

for j = 1, ..., n and 1/p + 1/q = 1.

A lower bound can be determined by obtaining a feasible solution to the dual in the following manner. Given an iterative computation procedure and the current solution $\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{k}'} = (\mathbf{x}_1 \mathbf{k}, \mathbf{x}_2 \mathbf{k})$ at iteration k, the direction vectors U_j are estimated using
$U_j^{k'} = (u_j^k, v_j^k) = (x_1^k - a_{j1}, x_2^k - a_{j2})$ for j = 1,...,n. Condition (2.13), which gives the relationships between the dual and primal variables at optimality for the single facility Euclidean distance model, provided the motivation for this method of obtaining an initial estimate of the dual variables. The non-normalized U_j^k direction vectors are used to obtain vector $U^{k'} = (u_1^k, ..., u_n^k, v_1^k, ..., v_n^k)$. This initial dual solution need not satisfy constraints (3.2b) and (3.2c). The U_j^k vectors are adjusted so that constraints (3.2b) and (3.2c) are satisfied, thus generating a dual feasible solution at the kth iteration. Each U_j^k is adjusted so that the equality holds true in (3.2c), using $c_j = w_j/|U_j^k|_q$ to obtain the adjusted vectors $\overline{U}_j^k = c_j U_j^k$, for j=1,2,...,n. Although the norm constraint is satisfied, the adjusted U_j^k vectors may not satisfy the linear equality constraints. In order to satisfy (3.2b), the vector $\overline{U}^{k'} = (c_1 u_1^k, ..., c_n v_n^k)$ is projected into the intersection of the two planes determined by (3.2b), using the projection matrix P as given by Rosen (1960).

52

P is defined as $P = I - \dot{A}_{g}'(A_{g} A_{g}')^{-1} A_{g}$, where A_{g} is the matrix whose rows are the coefficients of the variables in the dual using constraints (3.2b). The constraints in (3.2b) can be expressed as

$$A_{g}U = \vec{0}$$
(3.3)

where A_g is a 2×2n matrix given by

y

$$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{g}} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \ 1 \ \dots \ 1 \ 0 \ 0 \ \dots \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ \dots \ 0 \ 1 \ 1 \ \dots \ 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

In general, P will be of the form

$$\mathbf{P} = \left[\begin{array}{cc} \mathbf{R} & \mathbf{O} \\ \mathbf{O} & \mathbf{R} \end{array} \right],$$

where submatrix R is an $n \times n$ matrix with elements

$$\mathbf{r}_{ij} = \begin{cases} (n-1)/n & i = j \\ -1/n & i \neq j \end{cases} \quad i, j = 1, 2, ..., n.$$

The derivation of this result can be found in Appendix A.

The projected vector $\overline{U}^k = P \cdot \overline{U}^k$ now satisfies (3.2b). However, some of the \overline{U}_j^k vectors may no longer satisfy (3.2c), or all of the \overline{U}_j^k may satisfy the strict inequality $|\overline{U}_j^k|_q < w_j$, for j = 1,...,n. A final adjustment can be made to \overline{U}^k so that at least one equality condition in (3.2c) holds true. Calculate $\overline{c}_j = w_j / |\overline{U}_j^k|$ and $c = \min_{j \leq i} \{\overline{c}_j\}$; $c\overline{U}^k$ will then provide a feasible solution to the dual at iteration k. For the case where all $|\overline{U}_j^k|_q < w_j$, for j = 1,...,n, \overline{U}^k will provide a feasible solution but $c\overline{U}^k$ provides a better objective function value since each $\overline{c}_j > 1$, for j = 1,...,n, and hence c > 1. A lower bound to the primal objective function can be calculated using the dual objective function value

$$-\sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathbf{c} \mathbf{a}_{j}^{\prime} \overline{\overline{U}}_{j}^{\mathbf{k}} .$$

It would require less computation time to use the projection matrix on the 2n components of U^k to obtain $\widehat{U}^{k} = PU^{k}$ and then adjust the resulting vector by a constant

$$\mathbf{c} = -\frac{\min}{j} \{ \mathbf{w}_j / | \widehat{\mathbf{U}}_j^{\mathbf{k}} |_q \}.$$

However, computational experience has shown that the solutions obtained are extremely poor. This occurs because any adjustment must be applied simultaneously to each of the 2n components of PU^k so that constraint (3.2b) is still satisfied. Furthermore, the adjustment made is based on the worst violation of (3.2c).

3.2

The Drezner Bound for Single Facility $\ell_{\rm p}$ Distance Problems

Drezner (1984) has shown that for Euclidean distance problems

$$W_{2}(x^{\bullet}) \geq \min_{x_{1}, x_{2}}^{\min} \sum_{j=1}^{n} [w_{j}/d_{2}(a_{j}, x^{k})] \cdot [|x_{1} - a_{j1}||a_{j1} - x_{1}^{k}| + |x_{2} - a_{j2}||a_{j2} - x_{2}^{k}|],$$

where $\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{k}'} = (\mathbf{x}_1^{\mathbf{k}}, \mathbf{x}_2^{\mathbf{k}})$. At each iteration of a solution process this bound is evaluated by solving a rectilinear distance problem. The Drezner bound is obtained by solving the following problem, given by (2.16):

$$\min_{\mathbf{x}_{1} \to \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\mathbf{w}_{j}'| \mathbf{x}_{1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}| + \frac{\min_{\mathbf{x}_{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\mathbf{w}_{j}''| \mathbf{x}_{2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}|$$

where the "created" weights $w_j{}^\prime$ and $w_j{}^\bullet$ are defined as

$$\mathbf{w}_{j}' = [\mathbf{w}_{j} / \mathbf{d}_{2}(\mathbf{a}_{j}, \mathbf{x}^{k})] \cdot |\mathbf{a}_{j|1} - \mathbf{x}_{1}^{k}|,$$

and

$$\mathbf{w}_{j}^{*} = [\mathbf{w}_{j}/d_{2}(\mathbf{a}_{j}, \mathbf{x}^{k})] \cdot |\mathbf{a}_{j2} - \mathbf{x}_{2}^{k}|$$
 for $j = 1, ..., n$.

The single facility Drezner bound can be generalized to ℓ_p distances in the following manner, using the Hölder inequality which is given by:

$$|\sum_{i=1}^{N} b_{i} \cdot c_{i}| \leq \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N} |b_{i}|^{p}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N} |c_{i}|^{q}\right)^{\frac{1}{q}},$$

where $\{b_N\}$ and $\{c_N\}$ are real sequences, p>1 and 1/p + 1/q = 1. Let $b_i = |x_i - a_{ji}|$ and $c_i = |a_{ji} - x_i|$ for i = 1, 2 and j = 1, ..., n. Then

$$\sum_{i=1}^{2} |\mathbf{x}_{i} - \mathbf{a}_{ji}| |\mathbf{a}_{ji} - \mathbf{x}_{i}^{k}| \leq \{ [|\mathbf{x}_{1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}|^{p} + |\mathbf{x}_{2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}|^{p}]^{1/p} \} \{ [|\mathbf{a}_{j1} - \mathbf{x}_{1}^{k}|^{q} + |\mathbf{a}_{j2} - \mathbf{x}_{2}^{k}|^{q}]^{1/q} \} .$$

This can be written as

$$[|\mathbf{x}_{1}-\mathbf{a}_{j1}|^{p}+|\mathbf{x}_{2}-\mathbf{a}_{j2}|^{p}]^{1/p} \ge \frac{|\mathbf{x}_{1}-\mathbf{a}_{j1}||\mathbf{a}_{j1}-\mathbf{x}_{1}^{k}|+|\mathbf{x}_{2}-\mathbf{a}_{j2}||\mathbf{a}_{j2}-\mathbf{x}_{2}^{k}|}{[|\mathbf{a}_{j1}-\mathbf{x}_{1}^{k}|^{q}+|\mathbf{a}_{j2}-\mathbf{x}_{2}^{k}|^{q}]^{1/q}}$$

or

$$W_{p}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j} \ell_{p}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) \geq \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j}' |\mathbf{x}_{1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j}'' |\mathbf{x}_{2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}|,$$

where

$$\mathbf{w}_{j}' = \mathbf{w}_{j} |\mathbf{a}_{j1} - \mathbf{x}_{1}^{k}| / [|\mathbf{a}_{j1} - \mathbf{x}_{1}^{k}|^{q} + |\mathbf{a}_{j2} - \mathbf{x}_{2}^{k}|^{q}]^{1/q}$$

and

$$\mathbf{w}_{j}'' = \mathbf{w}_{j} |\mathbf{a}_{j2} - \mathbf{x}_{2}^{k}| / [|\mathbf{a}_{j1} - \mathbf{x}_{1}^{k}|^{q} + |\mathbf{a}_{j2} - \mathbf{x}_{2}^{k}|^{q}]^{1/q} .$$

Since

$$W_{p}(\mathbf{x}) \geq \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j}' |\mathbf{x}_{1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j}' |\mathbf{x}_{2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}| ,$$

then

$$W_{p}(x^{*}) = \frac{\min}{x} W_{p}(x) \ge \frac{\min}{x_{1} x_{2}} \left[\sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j}' |x_{1} - a_{j1}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j}' |x_{2} - a_{j2}| \right]$$

 \mathbf{or}

$$W_{p}(\mathbf{x}^{*}) \geq \frac{\min}{x_{1}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j}' |x_{1} - a_{j1}| + \frac{\min}{x_{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j}'' |x_{2} - a_{j2}|$$

This result can be used to generate the rectangular bound for the single facility ℓ_p distance model. At each iteration of the solution process, a single facility rectilinear problem

minimize R(x) =
$$\frac{\min}{x_1} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_j' |x_1 - a_{j1}| + \frac{\min}{x_2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_j'' |x_2 - a_{j2}|$$

is constructed, using the fixed facilities a_j , weights w_j and current solution x^k to calculate w_j' , and w_j^* for j = 1,...,n. The two optimization problems can be solved independently and an optimal solution x_R^* can be used to calculate $R(x_R^*)$, which is the lower bound on $W_p(x^*)$ at the kth iteration.

While it may appear that adding another optimization problem and solving it has increased the work required to find a lower bound, this procedure has several advantages. The rectilinear problem is separable and each part can be solved rapidly. Also, it is not necessary to find the hull points which are used in both the Love-Yeong and Juel bounds.

In order to test the effectiveness and efficiency of the four bounding methods, several single facility test problems were randomly generated. Comparisons and observations are presented in section 3.3 for these test runs.

3.3 Bound Comparisons for the Single Facility lp Distance Model

Four programs were written to incorporate the generalized Weiszfeld procedure with each of the lower bound methods. At each iteration of the solution procedure the bound was calculated and tested against the current solution. By entering a proportionate error difference e, a stopping rule calculated as

 $|(bound value - objective function value)|/(objective function value) \le e$ was used to terminate the process. In all sample runs e = 0.01, and the initial starting solution used in the Weiszfeld procedure was (0,0). Samples of size n = 6, 10, 15, 20 existing facilities locations were randomly generated. In the first set of runs a unit value was assigned to the w_j weights, and ℓ_p distances were calculated for p = 2, 1.8, 1.6, 1.4, 1.2.

For a given value of n and p, a series of test runs was made using each of the four programs. For each bounding method the iterations were terminated using the stopping rule with e = 0.01. The number of iterations required, the objective function value, the value of the bound, and the CPU compilation and execution times were recorded in each case. The bound values are displayed in Table 3.1, where B1, B2, B3, B4 refer to the Love-Yeong, Juel, Drezner and dual bounds, respectively. The average computation times for various sample runs are in Tables 3.3 and 3.4.

From Table 3.1, it is quite evident that for p = 2 the Drezner bound provided superior results. However, it is also quite evident that for p < 2 the Drezner and dual bounds may not converge. For example, with n = 6 and p = 1.6 the Drezner bound did not reach the 1% error difference in 25 iterations. The closest it came was at iteration 9 when the error difference was 1.06%. At successive iterations after the ninth, the percentage error difference increased in value. To further study this phenomenon, a second set of test samples was created using weights randomly selected from the range [1,10]. For each n and p combination a second set of four runs was made and the data were recorded. Then a new set of weights was generated for the next n and p combination. The results for these test runs are shown in Table 3.2.

The second series of test runs provided, data that supported the earlier observations. The instability of the Drezner bound makes its use impractical except for models with p equal to two. The apparent convergence of the Drezner bound for p=1.8 was due to the

magnitude of the error difference value (e = 0.01). If a smaller value had been used for e, say e = 0.00001, the Drezner bound would diverge before that error difference value could be attained. However, the test results show that for the Euclidean distance model the Drezner bound was always superior to the Juel bound. Also, the Drezner bound is computationally more efficient than the other three bounds. Average compilation and execution times for Euclidean distances are shown in Tables 3.3 and 3.4 for a CDC Cyber 170/730.

١

k

ş

٩

| | n | | 6 | | | 10 | | | 15 | | | 20 | |
|-----|------------|-------------------|--------------|----------|-------------------|----------------|----------------|-------------------|--------------|---------|-------------------|--------------|----------|
| P | | No. of Iter | Obj Funct | Bound | No. of Iter | Obj . Funct | Bound | No. of Iter | Obj Funct | Bound . | No. of Iter | Obj Funct | Bound |
| 2 | B1 | 12 | 117.72 | 116.81 | 6 | 187.34 | 185.53 | 7 | 290.37 | 288.60 | 8 | 389.25 | 386.03 |
| | B2 | 7 | (117.74 | 116.86 | 6 | 187.34 | 186.11 | 7 | 290.37 | 288.83 | 8 | 389.25 | 386.64 |
| | вз | 4 | 117.83 | 117.01 | 4 | 187.39 | 186.40 | 4 | 290,55 | 288.54 | 4 | 389.97 | 386.07 |
| | B4 | 6 | 117.76 | 116.93 | 6 | 187.34 | 186.34 | 6 | 290.38 | 287.96 | 7 | 389.27 | 385.50 |
| 1.8 | Bl | 11 | 120.94 | 119.91 | 7 | 193.48 | 191.59 | 8 | 297.86 | 295.31 | 9 | 399.11 | 395.58 |
| | B2 | 5 | 120.97 | 119.80 | 7 | 193.48 | 192.0 9 | 8 | 297.86 | 295.55 | 9 | 399.11 | 396.11 |
| | B3 | 4 | 121.00 | 120.02 | 4 | 193.59 | 191.80 | 6 | 297.92 | 295.62 | 6 | 399.32 | 395.68 |
| | B4 | 6 | 120.96 | 119.95 | 7 | 193.48 | 191.74 | 11 | 297.85 | 295.11 | 25* | 399.10 | 393.18 |
| 1.6 | B1 | 7 | 125.36 | 5 124.35 | 9 | 201.69 | 200.03 | 10 | 308.02 | 305.27 | 11 | 412.40 | 409.10 |
| | B2 | 4 | 125.38 | 124.35 | 8 | 201.69 | 199.73 | 10 | 308.02 | 305.49 | 11 | 412.40 | 0 409.52 |
| Ì | В3 | 25• | 125.36 | 5 124.03 | 9 | 201.69 | 199.68 | 25* | 308.01 | 304.36 | 25* | 412.39 | 407.53 |
| | B4 | 25• | 125.30 | 5 123.87 | 25 | 201.69 | 198.14 | 25• | 308.01 | 300.23 | 25* | 412.39 | 9 397.89 |
| 1.4 | B1 | 19 | 131.6 | 4 130.41 | 12 | 213.10 | 211.29 | 13 | 322.26 | 319.61 | 16 | 431.1 | 3 427.22 |
| | B2 | 18 | · 131.6 | 4 130.34 | 11 | 213.10 | 211.36 | 12 | 322.26 | 319.05 | 16 | 431.1 | 3 427.87 |
| | B3 | 25* | 131.6 | 4 127.72 | 25 | • 213.09 | 207.90 | 25• | 322.25 | 311.91 | 25* | 431.1 | 2 419.71 |
| | B4 | 25* | 131.6 | 4 127.21 | 25 | • 213.09 | 204.42 | 25• | 322.25 | 303.07 | 25* | 431.1 | 2 407.17 |
| | 9 191 | 25. | 1410 | 1 139 50 | 20 | 229 75 | . 227.74 | 13 | 343.08 | 340.89 | 25 | 459.0 | 7 454.99 |
| 1.4 | , DI 87 | 25 | 141.0 | 1 139.61 | 18 | 229 79 | 227.50 | 13 | 343.08 | 341.11 | 24 | 459.0 | 8 455.00 |
| | 04 | 2.0 | 141.0 | 1 130.54 | - 10 9K | • 999 7 | 7 216 18 | 25+ | 343.08 | 322.47 | 25* | 459.0 | 7 431.0 |
| | 03 84 | 25 | 141.0 | 1 128.30 | 25 | • 229.7 | 7 208.34 | 25* | 343.08 | 306.76 | 25* | 459.0 | 7 414.8 |
| | ~ • | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

*did not converge to within 1% error difference in 25 iterations.

Table 3.1: Lower Bound Data for Single Facility Samples, $w_{\rm j}=1$

ł

7

٠,

| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | _ |
|------------|------------|-------------------|--------------|----------|-------------------|--------------|-----------|-------------------|--------------|---------|-------------------|--------------|---------|---|
| , 1 | 'n | | 6 | | | 1 | 0 | | | 15 | | | 20 | |
| ρ | | No. of Iter | Obj Funct | Bound | No. of lter | Obj Funct | Bound | No. of Itor | Obj Funčt | Bound | No. of Iter | Obj Funct | Bound | |
| 2 | 81 | 18 | 728.52 | 721.48 | , 9 | 1095.51 | 1086.70 | 9 | 1591.44 | 1579.82 | 10 | 2089.37 | 2071.77 | |
| | B2 | 17 | 728.55 | 721.63 | 8 | 1095,57 | 1084.87 | 8 | 1591.51 | 1581.93 | 9 | 2089.47 | 2074.56 | |
| | B3 | 6 | 730.19 | 722.95 | 6 | 1096.05 | 1086.91 | 7 | 1591.73 | 1582.03 | 6. | 2089.06 | 2078.33 | |
| | B4 | 25* | 728.44 | 718.42 | 12 | 1095.47 | 1087.42 | 11 | 1591.41 | 1579.65 | 12 | 2089.31 | 2069.41 | |
| | | : | | | | | | | • | | | | | |
| 1.8 | B1 | 21 | 745.67 | 738.86 | 10 | 1128.55 | 1117.71 | 10 | 1632.40 | 1616.50 | 12 | 2146.56 | 2130.53 | |
| | B2 | 20 | 745.70 | 739.18 | 10 | 1128.55 | 1119.78 | 9 | 1632.50 | 1620.85 | 10 | 2146.79 | 2128.17 | ļ |
| | 83 | 10 | 747.01 | 739.60 | 13 | 1128.48 | 1117.31 | 8 | 1632.76 | 1622.70 | 7 | 2149.51 | 2133.78 | |
| | B4 | 25• | 745.61 | 698.18 | 25• | 1128.46 | 1073.78 | 10 | 1632.40 | 1619.47 | 12 | 2146.56 | 2130.01 | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 1.6 | B1 | 25 | 768.80 | 761.66 | 12 | 1171.53 | 1160.11 | 13 | 1687.84 | 1674.63 | 14 | 2223.67 | 2203.53 | Ì |
| | B2 | 24 | 768.84 | 762.15 | 12 | 1171.53 | 1162.09 | 10 | 1688.21 | 1671.76 | 12 | 2223.93 | 2203.68 | ł |
| | B3 | 25• | 768.80 | 757.98 | 25• | 1171.40 | 1137.90 | 10 | 1688.21 | 1672.04 | 10 | 2224.91 | 2208.01 | ł |
| | B4 | 25• | 768.80 | 695.85 | 25• | 1171.40 | 1043.85 | 25• | 1687.79 | 1664.51 | 25* | 2223.58 | 2196.76 | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | ļ | | | |
| 1.4 | B1 | 25• | 803.25 | 769.26 | 16 | 1228.62 | 1216.82 | 17 | 1766.00 | 1749.97 | 19 | 2331.54 | 2311.34 | |
| | B2 | 25• | 803.25 | 774.02 | 15 | 1228.70 | 1216.64 | 13 | 1766.50 | 1750.05 | 17 | 2331.72 | 2313.36 | |
| | B 3 | 25* | 803.25 | 773.99 | 25• | 1228.43 | 1151.36 | 25* | 1765.90 | 1716.65 | 25• | 2331.49 | 2278.06 | |
| | B4 | 25* | 803.25 | 657.98 | 25* | 1228.43 | 1028.75 | 25• | 1765.90 | 1702.23 | 25• | 2331.49 | 2273.57 | |
| | | | r | 7 | | | | | | | | | | |
| 1.2 | 2 B1 | 24 | 848.14 | 842.44 | 25 | 1308.03 | 1295.75 | 25• | 1880.68 | 1855.33 | 24 | 2490.78 | 2468.99 | |
| | B2 | 24 | 848.14 | 843.12 | 25 | 1308.03 | 8 1295.81 | 19 | 1881.73 | 1864.06 | 23 | 2490.81 | 2467.26 | ľ |
| | B3 | 25• | 848.14 | 781.65 | 25* | 1308.00 | 8 1187.83 | 25* | 1180.68 | 1734.62 | 25* | 2490.78 | 2357.87 | |
| | B4 | 25* | 848.14 | 1 718.70 | 25* | 1308.03 | 3 1140.52 | 25• | 1880.68 | 1710.66 | 25* | 2490.78 | 2353.82 | 1 |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

*did not converge to within 1% error difference in 25 iterations.

.

I

1

1

Table 3.2: Lower Bound Data for Single Facility Samples, $w_j \in [1,10]$

| Love-Yeong | Juel | Drezner |
|------------|-------|---------|
| 1.961 | 2.028 | 1.992 |



| · | | ~ | | |
|-------------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|
| n | 6 | 10 | 15 | 20 |
| Love-Yeong Juel Drezner | 0.545 0.542 0.358 | 0.699 0.487 0.421 | 0.587 0.628 0.415 | 0.524 0.544 0.414 |

Table 3.4: Average Execution Time (secs) for Solution and Bound, p = 2

From Table 3.1 where all weights have a unit value, the Juel and Love-Yeong bounds provided better bound values than the dual as p decreased in value when n was fixed. Also, for p fixed, the Juel and Love-Yeong bounds provided better bound values than the dual as n increased, except for p = 2. In Table 3.2 where the weights are from the interval [1,10], the Juel and Love-Yeong bounding methods provided better bound values than the dual for 19 out of 20 n and p combinations.

In the following section, it will be proven that the Drezner bound is superior to the Juel bound for the single facility Euclidean distance model.

3.4 Comparison of the Drezner and Juel Bounds for Euclidean Distances

The bound values in Tables 3.1 and 3.2 confirm the theoretical results given by Juel (1984) and Elizinga and Hearn (1984) which establish that the Juel bound gives as good or better results than the Love and Yeong bound. A comparison of the Drezner and Juel bounds will now be made for the Euclidean distances location model.

The Juel bound at iteration k is given by

$$J(x^{k}) = W_{2}(x^{k}) - \nabla W_{2}(x^{k})' x^{k} + \min_{y \in \Omega} \left[\nabla W_{2}(x^{k})' y \right].$$

For Euclidean distances,

$$W_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j} d_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}, a_{j}), \text{ where } d_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}, a_{j}) = \left[(x_{1}^{k} - a_{j1})^{2} + (x_{2}^{k} - a_{j2})^{2} \right]^{1/2}$$

and

$$\nabla W_2(\mathbf{x}^k)' = \left(\sum_{j=1}^n w_j (x_1^k - a_{j1})/d_2(\mathbf{x}^k, a_j), \sum_{j=1}^n w_j (x_2^k - a_{j2})/d_2(\mathbf{x}^k, a_j)\right).$$

Substituting in the Juel bound gives

$$J(\mathbf{x}^{k}) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j} d_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j}(\mathbf{x}_{1}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}) \mathbf{x}_{1}^{k} / d_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j})$$
$$- \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j}(\mathbf{x}_{2}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}) \mathbf{x}_{2}^{k} / d_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) + \min_{(\mathbf{y}_{1}, \mathbf{y}_{2}) \in \Omega} \left[\sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j}(\mathbf{x}_{1}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}) \mathbf{y}_{1} / d_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j}(\mathbf{x}_{2}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}) \mathbf{y}_{2} / d_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) \right].$$

The Drezner bound at the kth iteration is specified by minimizing

¢

$$R(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j}' |\mathbf{x}_{1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j}'' |\mathbf{x}_{2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}|$$

where

$$\mathbf{w}_{j}' = \mathbf{w}_{j} |\mathbf{a}_{j1} - \mathbf{x}_{1}^{k}| / d_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) \text{ and } \mathbf{w}_{j}'' = \mathbf{w}_{j} |\mathbf{a}_{j2} - \mathbf{x}_{2}^{k}| / d_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j})$$

Let $x^*_{R^k} = (x^*_{R1}{}^k, x^*_{R2}{}^k)$ represent an optimal solution obtained by minimizing R(x). Define $S_1 = \{a_{11}, a_{21}, ..., a_{n1}\}$ and $S_2 = \{a_{12}, a_{22}, ..., a_{n2}\}$ as the sets of first and second coordinates

Ĉ

respectively from the existing facility locations a_j , for j=1,...,n. An optimal solution to the rectilinear distance problem must be an element from the set $S_1 \times S_2$. Wendell and Hurter (1973) have shown that $x^*R^k \in (S_1 \times S_2) \cap \Omega$ for at least one optimal solution.

It will now be shown that at iteration k the Drezner bound is at least as good as the Juel bound.

THEOREM 1

For
$$p = 2$$
, $R(x^*R^k) \ge J(x^k)$.

Proof:

τ

$$\begin{aligned} R(\mathbf{x}^{*}_{R}^{k}) &= \sum_{t=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j} |a_{jt} - \mathbf{x}_{t}^{k}| |\mathbf{x}^{*}_{Rt}^{k} - a_{jt}| / d_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) , \\ &= \sum_{t=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j} |\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{jt}| |(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{jt}) - (\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{Rt}^{*k})| / d_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) . \\ &\geq \sum_{t=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j} (\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{jt}) |(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{jt}) - (\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{Rt}^{*k})| / d_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) \\ &= \sum_{t=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j} (\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{jt})^{2} / d_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) - \sum_{t=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j} (\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{jt}) \mathbf{x}_{t}^{k} / d_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) \\ &+ \sum_{t=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j} (\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{jt})^{2} / d_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) - \sum_{t=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j} (\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{jt}) \mathbf{x}_{t}^{k} / d_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) \\ &+ \sum_{t=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j} (\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{jt}) \mathbf{x}_{Rt}^{*k} / d_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) \end{aligned}$$

$$= W_{2}(x^{k}) - \nabla W_{2}(x^{k})'x^{k} + \nabla W_{2}(x^{k})'x^{*k}_{R}$$

Thus $R(x^*R^k) \ge J(x^k)$ if

Í

$$\sum_{j=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j} (x_{t}^{k} - a_{jt}) x_{Rt}^{\bullet k} / d_{2}(x^{k}, a_{j}) \ge \min_{y \in \Omega} \left[\sum_{t=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \widehat{w_{j}}(x_{t}^{k} - a_{jt}) y_{t} / d_{2}(x^{k}, a_{j}) \right]$$

ч.

For $x^*_{R^k}$ lying in Ω , the convex (Euclidean) hull, then $R(x^*_{R^k}) \ge J(x^k)$ with equality holding only when $x^*_{R^k} = y^* \in \Omega$. If multiple optimal solutions exist, at least one optimal solution must lie in Ω . Let $x^*_{R^k}$ and $z^*_{R^k}$ represent optimal solutions where $x^*_{R^k} \in \Omega$ and $z^*_{R^k} \notin \Omega$. Then, $R(z^*_{R^k}) = R(x^*_{R^k}) \ge J(x^k)$. Thus, there rem 1 holds true for p=2 and any optimal solution.

This establishes that the rectangular bound can be used without any trepidation about its convergence with Euclidean distances since $R(x_R^*)$ will converge to $W_2(x^*)$. Considerable computation time can be saved using this bound, as it required fewer iterations to reach the same level of percentage error difference as the other two bounds.

Theorem 1 in conjunction with the results of Juel (1984) and Elzinga and Hearn (1984) establishes that $B3 \ge B2 \ge B1$ for the Euclidean distance single facility model. In section 3.3, Tables 3.1 and 3.2 revealed that the Juel and Love-Yeong bounding methods provided better results than the dual in a majority of the examples. For p = 2, the dual outperformed the Love-Yeong bound only when the weights had unit values. For p < 2, the Love-Yeong bound provided superior results to the dual in 29 out of 32 test problems. The nature of the dual makes it difficult to provide a theoretical comparison with the other three bounds. In the next section, the dual and the Love and Yeong bound will be compared using numerous examples for p = 2.

3.5

<u>Comparison of the Dual (B4) and Love-Yeong Bound (B1)</u>

Several hundred test examples were constructed and run on a CDC Cyber 170/730 computer in order to investigate the performance of bounds B1 and B4 with respect to the number of existing facilities, the locations of the existing facilities and the values for the positive weights. Computational experience has revealed that there are three factors which influence a comparison of bounds B1 and B4 for Euclidean distances: the number of existing

38

ł

facilities, an outlier among the existing facilities, and the range of values for the weights. It is the difference between the maximum and minimum values of the weights rather than the actual values of the weights which affects the relative performance of bounds B1 and B4. For the numerical examples, the positive weights w_j were chosen from a range of values $[r_1, r_2]$ where $r_1 \leq r_2$. The interval $[r_1, r_2]$ could be mapped onto [1, w] where $w = r_2/r_1$. When w was unity, or very close to unity, the dual provided a better bound than B1 at each iteration. As the number of facilities increased, the dual's performance was diminished, and as w increased, the dual no longer provided a better bound than B1. Figure 3.1 illustrates the relationship between n and w that was observed from running sample problems with n = 5, 10,20, 30, 40, 50, 75 and 100 for various values of w. For each value of n, a value of w was selected and the w_j weights were randomly generated over the interval [1,w]. Twenty different values for w were used for each value of n, and the bounds B1 and B4 were compared for 25 iterations of the test problem. In most cases the dual provided a better bound for the first 3 or 4 iterations, then B1 provided a better bound. More than 160 test problems were used to plot the graph in Figure 3.1. Some test problems were run several times with the same weights and existing facility coordinates but with the weights assigned to different facilities on each run.

The effect of outliers was tested on many examples where each facility coordinate, except for the outlier, was generated randomly from the interval [0,50]. The weights were randomly generated from the interval [1,20]. Each example was run 9 times, using 3 outliers and 3 different outlier weights. The results are displayed in Table 3.5, which shows the better bound obtained at each iteration.



Figure 3.1: Dual (B4) and Love-Yeong (B1) Comparison

بر

| n · | Outlier | Bette C 3 | r Bound Obt Jutlier weigh 11 | ained nt 19 |
|--------|------------|-----------------|------------------------------------|-------------------|
| 10 | (78, 93) | B4 | B4 | B4 |
| | (126, 112) | B4 | B4 | B4 |
| | (163, 186) | B4 | B4 | B4 |
| 20 | (78, 93) | B4 | B4 | B4 |
| | (126, 112) | B4 | B4 | B4 |
| | (163, 186) | B4 | B4 ~ | B4 |
| 30 | (78, 93) | B1 | B1 | B1 |
| | (126, 112) | B4 | B1 | B1 |
| | (163, 186) | B4 | B1 | B1 |

Table 3.5: B1 and B4 Comparison with 1 Outlier.

For a small number of facilities, when there is a single outlier with a small weight attached to it, the dual will usually provide a better bound than B1. As the weight attached to the outlier intreases and/or the number of facilities increases, the effect of the outlier is minimized. An outlier has the effect on B1 of increasing $\overline{\sigma}$ which has a detrimental effect on the bound value. The dual receives preferential treatment since the direction vector from the outlier will have either two large negative components or a large negative component and a smaller positive component which increases the value of the dual objective function. As the number of facilities increases, the effect on the dual is diluted. Increasing the weight associated with the outlier has the tendency to shift the solution towards the outlier, decreasing $\overline{\sigma}$ and the negative components of the outlier direction vector.

. While the dual may provide a better bound than B1 in some special cases, this is attained at considerable cost in terms of CPU execution time. Table 3.6 gives the average CPU compile and execution times in seconds based on three runs for each example using weights randomly generated from the intervals [1,1], [1,2] and [1,10]. As the number of facilities increases, the proportion of CPU execution time required by the dual as compared with B1 increases. For n=30, 50 and 100 the ratio of CPU execution time is 2.9, 3.6 and 4.3 respectively.

| | Weiszfel | d Solution | Weiszfel and Bo | d Solution ound B1 | Weiszfeld Solution and Bound B4 | | |
|----|----------|------------|--------------------|-----------------------|------------------------------------|-----------|--|
| n | Compile | Execution | Compile | Execution | Compile | Execution | |
| 10 | 0.184 | , 0.280 | 0.202 | 0.313 | 0.293 | , 0.599 | |
| 30 | 0.192 | 0.843 | 0.223 | 0.933 | , 0.315 | 2.726 | |
| 50 | 0,208 | 1.678 | 0.237 | 1.787 | 0.338 | 6.387 | |

Table 3.6: CPU Timings (seconds) for 20 Iterations on CDC CYBER 170/730

If the dual could give a lower bound in fewer iterations than B1, then it may be possible to overcome the difference in CPU execution times. In order to compare the timing and number of iterations required to obtain equivalent solutions, the program was run until the percentage difference between the total cost function and the lower bound was less than a prescribed constant. The weights selected were unity so that the examples were biased in favor of the dual bound. The CPU timings are displayed in Table 3.7. The execution time needed to obtain the same percentage difference is much less for B1 than B4. Usually, if the dual does provide a better bound at each iteration, B1 is never lagging more than 2 or 3 iterations behind it.

| n | | % difference | No. of Iterations | Objective Function | Bound Value | Execution Ťime (secs) |
|-----|----|--------------|----------------------|-----------------------|----------------|--------------------------|
| 50 | B1 | 0.1 | 11 | 900.906 | 900.247 | 1.37 |
| | B4 | 0.1 | 10 | 900.906 | 900.387 | 3.66 |
| | B1 | 0.0001 | 23 | 900.906 | 900.906 | 1.93 |
| | B4 | 0.0001 | 21 | 900.906 | 900.905 | 6.69 |
| 100 | B1 | 0.001 | 13 | 12132.6 | 12132.5 | 4.43 |
| | B4 | 0.001 | 12 | 12132.6 | 12132.5 | 14.59 |

Table 3.7: CPU Timings to Reach Equivalent Solutions

Both the dual and B1 can provide equivalent bounds for an iterative solution procedure. The examples in Table 3.8, one favouring B4 and the other favouring B1, illustrate that a wide discrepancy in bound values may exist over the first five iterations but very little difference is observable by the 25th iteration. However, when computation time is taken into consideration, B1 is generally superior to the dual bound.

| 'n | Weights | Iteration | Objective Function | Bound B1 | Bound B4 |
|----|--------------|-----------|-----------------------|----------|----------|
| 20 | [1, 20] | 1 | 15958.8 | 0 | 10517.0 |
| | outlier with | 5 | 15619.3 | 13694.6 | 15045.3 |
| | weight 3 | 10 | 15617.6 | 15301.2 | 15551.9 |
| , | | 15 | 15617.5 | 15550.4 | 15603.3 |
| | | 20 | 15617.5 | 15602.9 | 15614.4 |
| | | 25 | 15617.5 | 15614.2 | 15616.8 |
| 30 | [1, 80] | 1 | 25364.9 | 20988.9 | 6144.0 |
| | | 5 | 24941.0 | 24190.2 | 20856.5 |
| | ·. | 10 | 24932.4 | 24867.7 | 24524.7 |
| | | 15 | 24932.3 | 24926.9 | 24897.2 |
| | | 20 | 24932.3 | 24931.9 | 24929.4 |
| | | 25 | 24932.3 | 24932.3 | 24932.2 |

| Table 3.8: Bound Comparisons at Selected |
|--|
|--|

3.6 Conclusions

For p=2, the Drezner method provides a better bound at each iteration than the other three methods. In some cases, the Juel, Love and Yeong, and dual bounds required twice as many iterations to reach the same value as the Drezner bound. The computational savings achieved by using the Drezner bound with an iterative solution technique could be considerable.

Another advantage of the Drezner bound was observed when a series of test problems with 30, 40 and 50 existing facilities were randomly generated with coordinates from the interval [1,50], an outlier at (30,78), and weights equal to 1. The bound results for B1, B2, B3 and B4 are displayed in Table 3.9. For the situation in Table 3.9 with 40 existing facilities, the optimal solution was very close to an existing facility. This slowness of convergence of bounds B1, B2 and B4 has always been observed in test problems where the optimal solution was very close to an existing facility. The Drezner bound has never been affected by this situation.

| n | | B1 | B2 | B3 | B4 |
|----------|-----------|-------|-------|---------|-------|
| | Iter. No. | 10 | 10 | 5 | 8 |
| 30 | Bound | 595.6 | 595.6 | 595.4 | 595.0 |
| | Obj. Fn. | 600.0 | 600.0 | 600.6 | 600.1 |
| · · | Iter. No. | 25* | 25* | 4 | 25* |
| 40 | Bound | 771.5 | 784.8 | 795.9 | 787.4 |
| | Obj. Fn. | 797.1 | 797.1 | , 799.0 | 797.1 |
| - | Iter. No. | 8 | 7 | 4 | 8 |
| 50 | Bound | 978.2 | 977.9 | 981.6 | 978.2 |
| | Obj. Fn. | 984.8 | 984.8 | 988.0 | 984.8 |

Did not converge to within e = 1% in 25 iterations

Table 3.9: Comparison of Bounds for Weights = 1

A final comparison of Drezner's bound (B3) and the dual bound (B4) using the four examples from Wendell and Peterson (1984) is given in Table 3.10. The solution procedure was terminated when e reached 1% or less. The Wendell and Peterson examples are of the type that favour the performance of the dual over B1 since they have small numbers of fixed points, an outlier, and uniform weights. However, as shown in Table 3.10, the Drezner bound is clearly superior to the dual bound in each case.

When 1 , the Juel bound provides the best bound from among the four ,methods. Both the Drezner and dual bounds may experience convergence problems when<math>p<2. The Juel bound is always as good or better than the Love and Yeong bound, but computational experience reveals that in most instances the Love and Yeong bound is never lagging any more than 1 or 2 iterations behind the Juel bound.

| | Drezner Bound B3 Number of Iterations | Dual Bound B4 Number of Iterations |
|---------|--|---------------------------------------|
| Example | | |
| 1 | 3 | 7 |
| 2 | 1 | 6 |
| 3 | 4 | 10 |
| 4 | 1 | 25* |

• Did not converge to within e = 1% in 25 iterations.

;

. 1

Table 3.10: Comparison of Drezner and Dual Bounds.

]-

₽

Ę

A COMPARISON OF BOUNDING METHODS FOR MULTI-FACILITY

The format for this chapter will be similar to the one used in Chapter 3. The dual and Drezner bounds will be developed for the multi-facility ℓ_p distance models. Dual feasible solutions will be constructed from a given primal solution using a projection matrix technique. The proof that the Drezner bound is as good or better than the Juel bound for the single facility Euclidean distance problem will be extended to include the multi-facility Euclidean distance model. A computational comparison of the dual, and the Love and Yeong bounds will be given as well as conclusions regarding the usage of these bounding methods.

4.1

A Lower Bound Obtained from the Dual

The multi-facility $\ell_{\rm p}$ distance location problem is given as

minimize W M_p'(x) = $\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij} [|x_{i1} - a_{j1}|^{p} + |x_{i2} - a_{j2}|^{p}]^{1/p}$

+ $\sum_{i < r} w_{2ir} [|x_{i1} - x_{r1}|_{\infty}^{p} + |x_{i2} - x_{r2}|^{r}]$

ري. م (3.1)

and the corresponding dual is given by

$$-\sum_{i=1}^{m}\sum_{j=1}^{n}a_{j}^{\prime \prime}U_{1ij}$$
(4.2a)

subject to
$$-\sum_{r=1}^{i-1} U_{2ri} + \sum_{r=i+1}^{O} U_{2ir} + \sum_{j=1}^{n'} U_{1ij} = \vec{0}, \quad i = 1, ..., m$$
(4.2b)

$$|U_{1ijq}| \le w_{1ij}$$
 $i = 1, ..., m; j = 1, ..., n$ (4.2c)

$$|U_{2ir}|_q \le w_{2ir}$$
 $i = 1, ..., m-1, r = i+1, ..., m$ (4.2d)

where 1/p + 1/q = 1, $|U|_q = [|u|q + |v|q]^{1/q}$ for U' = (u,v), and U_{1ij} and U_{2ir} are vectors of dual variables. At optimality, $U_{1ij}' = (u_{1ij}, v_{1ij})$ is the non-normalized direction vector from the jth existing facility to the ith new facility and $U_{2ir}' = (u_{2ir}, v_{2ir})$ is the non-normalized direction vector from the rth new to the ith new facility.

maximize

Given a primal iterative computation procedure and the current solution x_i^k for i=1,...,m at iteration k, vectors U_{1ij} and U_{2ir} are estimated by $U_{1ij'} = (x_{i1}^k - a_{i1}, x_{i2}^k - a_{j2})$ and $U_{2ir'} = (x_{i1}^k - x_{r1}^k, x_{i2}^k - x_{r2}^k)$. Each U_{1ij^k} and U_{2ir^k} vector is adjusted so that the equality condition holds true in (4.2c) and (4.2d), using $c_{1ij} = w_{1ij}/|U_{1ij}^k|_q$ for i=1,...,m; j=1,...,n and $c_{2ir} = w_{2ir}/|U_{2ir^k}|_q$ for i=1,...,m-1 and r=i+1,...,m. The adjusted vectors are $\overline{U}_{1ij^k} = c_{1ij}U_{1ij^k}$ for i=1,...,m; j=1,...,n and $\overline{U}_{2ir^k} = c_{2ir}U_{2ir^k}$ for i=1,2,...,m-1; r=i+1,...,m. Although the norm constraints in (4.2c) and (4.2d) are satisfied, the adjusted vectors may not satisfy the linear equality constraints in (4.2b). The constraints in (4.2b) can be written with the u_{2ir} and u_{1ij} variables in the first m rows and the v_{2ir} and v_{1ij} variables in the second set of m rows.

Let $U^{k'} = (u_{212}^k, \dots, u_{2(m-1)m}^k, u_{111}^k, \dots, u_{1mn}^k, v_{212}^k, \dots, v_{2(m-1)m}^k, v_{111}^k, \dots, v_{1mn}^k)$, a vector with 2mn + m(m-1) components. Constraint (4.2b) can be expressed as $A_gU^k = \vec{0}$ where A_g is a $2m \times [m(m-1) + 2mn]$ matrix and

$$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{g}} = \left[\begin{array}{cc} \mathbf{B} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{B} \end{array} \right].$$

B is an $m \times [m(m-1)/2 + mn]$ matrix, defined as $B = [B_1 B_2 \dots B_{m-1} C_1 C_2 \dots C_m]$ where B_t is an

 $m \times (m-t)$ matrix with elements

$$\mathbf{b}_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1 \quad i=t \\ -1 \quad i=j+t \quad \text{for } t=1, \dots, m-1 \\ 0 \quad \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and C_r is an m×n matrix with elements

$$c_{i\,j} = \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} 1 & i = r \\ 0 & otherwise \end{array} \right. \mbox{for } r = 1, \ldots, m \, . \label{eq:cij}$$

The vector \overline{U}^k is projected into the intersection of the 2m planes determined by (4.2b), using the projection matrix P as given by Rosen (1960). P is defined as $P = I - A_g'(A_gA_g')^{-1}A_g$. In order to develop the form of the projection matrix for the given matrix A_g , the first step is the calculation of A_gA_g' .

$$\begin{bmatrix} A_{g}A_{g}\\ B_{g}\end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} BB' & 0\\ 0 & BB' \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} A & 0\\ 0 & A \end{bmatrix}$$

where A is an $m \times m$ symmetric matrix with elements

$$\mathbf{a}_{ij} = \begin{cases} \mathbf{m} + \mathbf{n} - \mathbf{1} & i = j \\ -\mathbf{1} & i \neq j \end{cases}$$

The derivation of this result can be found in Appendix B.

In Appendix C, it is shown that the $2m \times 2m$ symmetrix matrix $(A_g A_g')^{-1}$ can be

calculated using

$$\left(\mathbf{\hat{A}}_{g}\mathbf{A}_{g'}\right)^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{A}^{-1} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{A}^{-1} \end{bmatrix}$$

where A^{-1} is an $m \times m$ symmetric matrix with elements

$$\mathbf{a}_{ij}^{-1} = \begin{cases} (n+1)/n(n+m) & i=j\\ 1/n(n+m) & i\neq j \end{cases}$$

The final form of the projection matrix P is

$$P_{\mathcal{F}} = I - A_{g}' (A_{g}A_{g}')^{-1} A_{g}$$

 $= 1/(n+m) \begin{bmatrix} R & 0 \\ 0 & R \end{bmatrix}$

where R is an $[m(m-1)/2 + mn] \times [m(m-1)/2 + mn]$ matrix given by

21

\$.

| | - F ₁ | G ₁₂ | ••• | G _{1(m-1)} | H ₁ | К ₁₂ | ••• | K _{1(m-1)} | К _{1m} |
|-----|-----------------------|-----------------------|-------|------------------------|----------------|---------------------|-----|---------------------|---------------------|
| | G ₁₂ : | F ₂ | | G _{2(m-1)} | 0 | н ₂ ; | | K _{2(m-1)} | K _{2m} |
| R = | G _{1(m-1)} ' | G _{2(m-1)} ' | ··· | F1 | 0 | 0 | | H _{m-1} | K _{(m-1)m} |
| | H ₁ ' | 0 | ••• | 0 | L | N | | | N |
| | К ₁₂ ′ | H ₂ ′ | | 0 | N | L | | | N |
| | | | | | • | | | | • |
| | Γ _{1m} ΄ | | • • • | K _{(m-1) m} ' | N | | | • • • | L |

and $F_{t}, G_{ta}, H_{t}, K_{tr}, L$ and N are defined as follows:

$$F_{t} \text{ is an } (m-t) \times (m-t) \text{ matrix with elements } f_{ij} = \begin{cases} n+m-2 & i=j \\ -1 & i\neq j \end{cases} \text{ for } t = 1, ..., m-1;$$

 $G_{ts} \text{ is an } (m-t) \times (m-s) \text{ matrix with elements } g_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1 & i=s-t \\ -1 & i=j+s-t \text{ for } t < s=2,...,m-1; \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$

 H_t is an (m-t) \times n constant matrix with h_{ij} = -1 for t=1, ..., m-1;

$$K_{tr}$$
 is an $(m-t) \times n$ matrix with elements $k_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1 & i=r-t \\ 0 & otherwise \end{cases}$ for $t < r = 2,...,m$;

L is an n × n matrix with elements $\ell_{ij} = \begin{cases} [n(n+m)-(n+1)]/n & i=j \\ -(n+1)/n & i\neq j \end{cases}$

and N is an $n \times n$ constant matrix with elements $n_{ij} = -1/n$.

This result is obtained in Appendix D. Applying the projection matrix P to \overline{U}^k yields the vector $\overline{U}^k = P \ \overline{U}^k$, which satisfies the linear constraints in (4.2b). It is possible that some of the \overline{U}_{2ir}^k or \overline{U}_{1ij}^k vectors may now violate (4.2d) or (4.2e) respectively or each vector may satisfy the strict inequality. \overline{U}^k can be adjusted by a factor c so that at least one vector satisfies the equality in (4.2d) or (4.2c) and all remaining \overline{U}_{2ir}^k and \overline{U}_{1ij}^k vectors satisfy the strict inequality. Calculate $\overline{c}_{2ir} = w_{2ir}/|\overline{U}_{2ir}^k|_q$ for $1 \le i < r \le m$; $\overline{c}_{1ij} = w_{1ij}/|\overline{U}_{1ij}^k|_q$ for i = 1,...,m and j = 1,...,n; and

$$c = \min \{ \min \overline{c}_{2ir}, \min \overline{c}_{1ij} \}.$$

$$1 \le i < r \le m \qquad i = 1, ..., m$$

$$i = 1, ..., m$$

Vector $c\overline{U}^k$ will provide a feasible solution to the dual problem at iteration k and the dual objective function value

$$-c\sum_{i=1}^{m}\sum_{j=1}^{n}a_{j}^{'}\overline{\overline{U}}_{lij}^{k}$$

can be used as a lower bound for the primal objective function.

While the projection matrix P appears to be quite complicated, it is not necessary to actually calculate and store it in a computer program. Any component of the projected vector $P\overline{U}^{k}$ can be expressed in terms of the elements of \overline{U}^{k} and the submatrix elements from P, where the non-zero elements of P only take on the values 1, -1, n+m-2, -(n+1)/n or [n(n+m)-(n+1)]/n.

4.2

1

The Drezner Bound for the Multi-Facility & Distance Problem

The multi-facility $\ell_{\rm p}$ distance location problem is to minimize

$$WM_{p}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij} [|\mathbf{x}_{11} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}|^{p} + |\mathbf{x}_{12} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}|^{p}]^{1/p} + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir} [|\mathbf{x}_{11} - \mathbf{x}_{r1}|^{p} + |\mathbf{x}_{12} - \mathbf{x}_{r2}|^{p}]^{1/p}$$

where

 $x_i' = (x_{i1}, x_{i2})$ are the location coordinates of new facility i, $a_j' = (a_{j1}, a_{j2})$ are the location coordinates of existing facility j,

and $x_i k' = (x k_{i1}, x k_{i2})$ represents the current solution at the kth iteration of a solution procedure for the ith new facility location. Using the Hölder inequality,

$$\left|\sum_{t=1}^{N} b_{t} c_{t}\right| \leq \left(\sum_{t=1}^{N} |b_{t}|^{p}\right)^{1/p} \left(\sum_{t=1}^{N} |c_{t}|^{q}\right)^{1/q} \text{ where } p > 1 \text{ and } 1/p + 1/q = 1,$$

and substituting

$$\mathbf{b}_{t} = |\mathbf{x}_{it} - \mathbf{a}_{jt}|$$
 and $\mathbf{c}_{t} = |\mathbf{a}_{jt} - \mathbf{x}_{it}^{k}|$

for t = 1,2; then

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}| |\mathbf{a}_{j1} - \mathbf{x}_{i1}^{k}| + |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}| |\mathbf{a}_{j2} - \mathbf{x}_{i2}^{k}| &\leq [|\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}|^{p} + |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}|^{p}]^{1/p} \\ &\cdot [|\mathbf{a}_{j1} - \mathbf{x}_{i1}^{k}|^{q} + |\mathbf{a}_{j2} - \mathbf{x}_{i2}^{k}|^{q}]^{1/q}. \end{aligned}$$

This can be rewritten as

$$[|\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}|^{p} + |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}|^{p}]^{1/p} \ge \frac{|\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}||\mathbf{a}_{j1} - \mathbf{x}_{i1}^{k}| + |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}||\mathbf{a}_{j2} - \mathbf{x}_{i2}^{k}|}{[|\mathbf{a}_{j1} - \mathbf{x}_{i1}^{k}|^{q} + |\mathbf{a}_{j2} - \mathbf{x}_{i2}^{k}|^{q}]^{1/q}}$$

By multiplying both sides of the inequality by the nonnegative weights w_{1ij} and summing, then

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij} [|\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}|^{p} + |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}|^{p}]^{1/p}$$

$$\geq \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{w_{1ij} |\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}| |\mathbf{a}_{j1} - \mathbf{x}_{i1}^{k}|}{[|\mathbf{a}_{j1} - \mathbf{x}_{i1}^{k}|^{q} + |\mathbf{a}_{j2} - \mathbf{x}_{i2}^{k}|^{q}]^{1/q}}$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{w_{1ij} |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}| |\mathbf{a}_{j2} - \mathbf{x}_{i2}^{k}|}{[|\mathbf{a}_{j1} - \mathbf{x}_{i1}^{k}|^{q} + |\mathbf{a}_{j2} - \mathbf{x}_{i2}^{k}|^{q}]^{1/q}}$$

Let

$$\mathbf{x}_{11j}' = (\mathbf{w}_{11j} | \mathbf{a}_{j1} - \mathbf{x}_{11}^{\mathbf{k}} |) / [|\mathbf{a}_{j1} - \mathbf{x}_{11}^{\mathbf{k}}|^{\mathbf{q}} + |\mathbf{a}_{j2} - \mathbf{x}_{12}^{\mathbf{k}}|^{\mathbf{q}}]^{1/\mathbf{q}}$$

and

$$w_{1ij} = (w_{1ij} | a_{j2} - x_{i2}^{k} |) / [|a_{j1} - x_{i1}^{k}|^{q} + |a_{j2} - x_{i2}^{k}|^{q}]^{1/q} ,$$

then

$$\min_{\mathbf{x}_{i}} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij} \ell_{p}(\mathbf{x}_{i}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) \geq \min_{\mathbf{x}_{11}} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij}' |\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}|$$

$$+ \min_{\mathbf{x}_{12}} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij}' |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}|.$$

For the terms representing the weighted distances between pairs of new facilities,

the Hölder inequality can be used in the same manner as before.

Substituting

$$\mathbf{b}_{t} = |\mathbf{x}_{it} - \mathbf{x}_{rt}|$$
 and $\mathbf{c}_{t} = |\mathbf{x}_{rt}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{it}^{k}|$

for t = 1,2 in the Hölder inequality, then

$$[|\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{x}_{r1}|^{p} + |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{x}_{r2}|^{p}]^{1/p} \ge \frac{|\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{x}_{r1}||\mathbf{x}_{r1}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{i1}^{k}| + |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{x}_{r2}||\mathbf{x}_{r2}^{r} - \mathbf{x}_{i2}^{r}|}{|\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{x}_{r1}|^{q} + |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{x}_{r2}|^{q}|^{1/q}}$$

By multiplying both sides of the inequality by the non-negative weights w_{2ir} and summing, then

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir} [|\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{x}_{r1}|^{p} + |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{x}_{r2}|^{p}]^{1/p} \ge \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir}' |\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{x}_{r1}| + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir}'' |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{x}_{r2}| ,$$

where

$$\mathbf{w}_{2ir}' = (\mathbf{w}_{2ir} | \mathbf{x}_{r1}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{i1}^{k} |) / [|\mathbf{x}_{r1}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{i1}^{k}|^{q} + |\mathbf{x}_{r2}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{i2}^{k}|^{q}]^{1/q}$$

and

$$\mathbf{w}_{2ir}^{\ \ *} = (\mathbf{w}_{2ir} | \mathbf{x}_{r2}^{\mathbf{k}} - \mathbf{x}_{i2}^{\mathbf{k}} |) / [| \mathbf{x}_{r1}^{\mathbf{k}} - \mathbf{x}_{i1}^{\mathbf{k}} |^{\mathbf{q}} + | \mathbf{x}_{r2}^{\mathbf{k}} - \mathbf{x}_{i2}^{\mathbf{k}} |^{\mathbf{q}}]^{D\mathbf{q}}.$$

Combining these two results gives

Λ

$$\begin{split} WM_{p}(\mathbf{x}) &\geq \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij}' |\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}| + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij}' |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}| \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir}' |\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{x}_{r1}| + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir}' |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{x}_{r2}| \\ WM_{p}(\mathbf{x}) &\geq \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij}' |\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{a}_{j1}| + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir}' |\mathbf{x}_{i1} - \mathbf{x}_{r1}| \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij}' |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{a}_{j2}| + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir}' |\mathbf{x}_{i2} - \mathbf{x}_{r2}| = RM(\mathbf{x}) \;. \end{split}$$

The solution at each iteration of a computation procedure for the multi-facility problem is used to construct RM(x), a multi-facility rectangular distance model. An optimal solution x^*_R , which minimizes RM(x), is used to calculate $RM(x^*_R)$ which is the lower bound.

4.3 Bound Comparisons for the Multi-Facility (p Distance Model

Programs were written to incorporate the multi-facility hyperbolic approximation version of the Weiszfeld procedure (2.23) with the Love and Yeong, Juel and dual bounding methods. At each iteration of the solution procedure the bound was calculated and tested against the current solution. By entering a proportionate error difference, e, a stopping rule calculated as

 $|(bound value - objective function value)|/(objective function value) \le e$ was used to terminate the process. In all sample runs e = 0.01 and the initial starting solution used for each of the m new facilities in the Weizfeld procedure was (0,0). Samples of size n = 5 and 10 existing facilities were randomly generated for m = 2 and 3 new facilities. The w_{1ij} weights were randomly generated from the interval [1,3], the interfacility weights w_{2ir} were 1 and ℓ_p distances were calculated for p = 2 and 1.8. An interactive computer program was written to solve the multi-facility rectilinear distance problem. When the

or

current solution from the Weiszfeld procedure was entered, the new weights for the rectangular distance model used in the Drezner bound were calculated and an optimal solution x^*R and lower bound value $RM(x^*R)$ were obtained. Then $RM(x^*R)$ was adjusted by subtracting the value of

$$2^{l/p} \varepsilon^{l/2} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{lij} + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir} \right)$$

since a hyperbolic approximation function, (2.24) and (2.32), was used to solve the multifacility ℓ_p distance problem. In all sample runs, $\varepsilon = 0.001$ was used in the approximating function.

For each bounding method, the number of iterations required to obtain $e \le 0.01$, the hyperbolic and true objective function values and the value of the bound were recorded. These results are displayed for 2 and 3 new facilities in Tables 4.1 and 4.2, where B1, B2, B3, B4 refer to the Love-Yeong, Juel, Drezner and dual bounds respectively.

| | n 5 | | | | | 10 | | | | | |
|-----|------------|--------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------|--------------------|--------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------|------------------|--|--|
| р | | No. of Iter. | Hyperbolic Objective Function | True Objective Function | Bound | No. of Iter. | Hyperbolic Objective Function | True Objective Function | Bound | | |
| 2 | B1 | 13 | 495.34 | 495.34 | 490.61 | 12 | 679.20 | 679.11 | 673.12 | | |
| | B2 | 12 | 495.37 | 495.37 | 490.73 | 11 | 679.20 | 679.11 | 673.14 | | |
| | B 3 | 10 | 495.48 | 495.48 | 491.18 | 6 | 679.63 | 679.60 | 673.79 | | |
| | ·B4 | 13 | 495.34 | 495.34 | 490.72 | 25* | 679.19 | 679.10 | 636.18 | | |
| 1.8 | B1 B2 | 16 14 | 509.66 509.72 | 509.66 509.72 | 505.09 、 505.83 | 16 15 \ | 699.35 699.35 | 699.25 699.25 | 693.36 693.48 | | |
| | B 3 | 25• | 509.63 | 509.63 | 495.45 | 8 | 699.88 | 699.79 | 692.92 | | |
| | B4 | 25* | 509.62 | 509.63 | 496.79 | 25* | 699.34 | 699.24 | 653.05 | | |

* did not converge to within 1% error difference in 25 iterations.

Table 4.1: Lower Bound Data for Multi-Facility Samples, m = 2.

• _ _ _ 55

¢

| · | n | 5 | | | | 10 | | | | |
|-----|----|--------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------|--------|--------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------|-----------------|--|
| р | | No. of Iter. | Hyperbolic Objective Function | True Objective Function | Bound | No. of Iter. | Hyperbolic Objective Function | True Objective Function | Bound | |
| 2 | B1 | 22 | 691.66 | 691.66 | 685.72 | 15 | 1024.72 | 1024.60 | 1015.79 | |
| | B2 | 20 | 691.68 | 691.67 | 685.91 | 14 | 1024.73 | 1024.61 | 1015.87 | |
| | B3 | 12 | 69 2 .99 | 692.98 | 687.54 | 7 | 1025.88 | 1025.82 | 1015.63 | |
| | B4 | 22 | 691.66 | 691.66 | 686.32 | 25* | 1024.71 | 1024.59 | 943.14 | |
| 1.8 | B1 | 25 | 705.62 | 705.61 | 699.36 | 18 | 1053.09 | 1052.95 | 1043.74 | |
| | B2 | 23 | 705.63 | 705.63 | 700.23 | 17 | 1053.09 | 1052.95 | 1043.89 | |
| I | B3 | 15 | 706.46 | 706.45 | 701.73 | 11 | 1053.44 | 1053.30 | 1043.00 | |
| | B4 | 25* | 705.62 | 705.61 | 686.37 | 25• | 1053.08 | 1052.94 | . 960.67 | |

* did not converge to within 1% error difference in 25 iterations.

Table 4.2: Lower Bound Data for Multi-Facility Samples, m = 3.

From Tables 4.1 and 4.2, it is quite evident that for p = 2-the Drezner bound provided superior results. As before, when p decreases in value, the Drezner and dual bounds may not converge. The Juel and Love-Yeong bounding methods provided better bound values than the dual in most of the examples. In the following section it will be proven that the Drezner bound is superior to the Juel bound for the multi-facility Euclidean distance model. 1

Comparison of Drezner and Juel Bounds for the Multi-Facility Euclidean Distance

The lower bound for the multi-facility ℓ_p model by Love and Yeong (1981) is given

by `

<u>Model</u>

4.4

$$\mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbf{x}^{*}) \geq \mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbf{x}^{k}) - \overline{\overline{\sigma}}(\mathbf{x}^{k}) \| \nabla \mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbf{x}^{k}) \|,$$

where

$$\overline{\Omega} = \{ \mathbf{s} = [\mathbf{s}_1, \mathbf{s}_2, ..., \mathbf{s}_m) \mid \mathbf{s}_i \in \Omega, i = 1, ..., m \}$$

$$\stackrel{=}{\sigma}(\mathbf{x}) = \max\{\mathbf{d}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}) \mid \mathbf{y} \in \overline{\Omega}\},\$$

and $x^{k'} = (x^{k_{11}}, x^{k_{12}}, ..., x^{k_{m1}}, x^{k_{m2}})$ is a point generated by any procedure at the kth

iteration.

For the same model, the lower bound by Juel (1984) is

$$WM_{p}(\mathbf{x}^{\bullet}) \geq WM_{p}(\mathbf{x}^{k}) - \nabla WM_{p}(\mathbf{x}^{k})' \mathbf{x}^{k} + \min_{\mathbf{y} \in \overline{\Omega}} \{\nabla WM_{p}(\mathbf{x}^{k})' \mathbf{y}\}.$$

For p = 2, the gradient $\nabla WM_2(x)$ has components $\partial WM_2(x)/\partial x_{it}$, where

$$\frac{\partial WM_2(x)}{\partial x_{it}} = \sum_{j=1}^n w_{1ij} (x_{it} - a_{jt}) / d_2(x_i, a_j) + \sum_{\substack{r=1\\r \neq i}}^m w_{2ir} (x_{it} - x_{rt}) / d_2(x_i, x_r) ,$$

r = i

r≠i, r=1, 2, ..., m

1

for t = 1, 2, and i = 1, ..., m.

By substituting for the gradient, the Juel bound for p = 2 can be expressed as

 $w_{2ir} = \begin{cases} w_{2ri} \\ 0 \end{cases}$

$$J(\mathbf{x}^{k}) = WM_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}) - \sum_{t=1}^{2} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij}(\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{jt})\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k}/d_{2}(\mathbf{x}_{i}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) + \sum_{\substack{i=1 \ r=1 \ r\neq i}}^{m} \sum_{\substack{r=1 \ r\neq i}}^{m} w_{2ir}(\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{rt}^{k})\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k}/d_{2}(\mathbf{x}_{i}^{k}, \mathbf{x}_{r}^{k}) + \sum_{\substack{y \in \overline{\Omega} \\ y \in \overline{\Omega}}}^{min} \{\nabla WM_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k})'y\}$$

Since the Juel bound is as good or better than the Love-Yeong bound at each iteration, only the Juel bound need be compared to the multi-facility rectangular bound. It

will now-be shown that the multi-facility rectangular bound will be at least as good as the Juel bound. Before proceeding with this proof, the following Lemma is required.

57

١

Lemma 1

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} \mathbf{w}_{2ir} (\mathbf{x}_{i} - \mathbf{x}_{r}) (\mathbf{x}_{i} - \mathbf{x}_{r}) = \sum_{\substack{i=1\\r \neq i}}^{m} \sum_{\substack{r=1\\r \neq i}}^{m} \mathbf{w}_{2ir} (\mathbf{x}_{i} - \mathbf{x}_{r}) \mathbf{x}_{i}$$

Proof:

İ

1

$$-\sum_{i=1}^{m-1}\sum_{j=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir}(x_{i}-x_{r})x_{r} = \sum_{i=1}^{m-1}\sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir}(x_{r}-x_{i})x_{r}$$
$$= \sum_{r=2}^{m} w_{2lr}(x_{r}-x_{1})x_{r} + \sum_{r=3}^{m} w_{22r}(x_{r}-x_{2})x_{r}$$
$$+ \dots + \sum_{r=m}^{m} w_{2m-1}(x_{r}-x_{m-1})x_{r}.$$

By grouping the () x_{2} , () x_{3} , ..., () x_{m} terms together, and using the fact that $w_{2ir} = w_{2ri}$ for i, r = 1,...,m and $i \neq r$, then

$$-\sum_{i=1}^{m-1}\sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir}(x_i - x_r)x_r = \sum_{r=2}^{m}\sum_{i=1}^{r-1} w_{2ri}(x_r - x_i)x_r$$
$$= \sum_{i=2}^{m}\sum_{r=1}^{i-1} w_{2ir}(x_i - x_r)x_i$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{m}\sum_{\substack{r=1\\r\neq i}}^{i-1} w_{2ir}(x_i - x_r)x_i$$

•

0

, Therefore

7

A

LHS =
$$\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir} (x_i - x_r) x_i + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{\substack{r=1 \ r \neq i}}^{i-1} w_{2ir} (x_i - x_r) x_i$$

= $\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{\substack{r=i+1 \ r \neq i}}^{m} w_{2ir} (x_i - x_r) x_i + \sum_{\substack{i=1 \ r \neq i}}^{m} \sum_{\substack{r=1 \ r \neq i}}^{i-1} w_{2ir} (x_i - x_r) x_i$

This establishes that

ø

)

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir} (x_i - x_r) (x_i - x_r) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{\substack{r=1\\r\neq i}}^{m} w_{2ir} (x_i - x_r') x_i.$$

It also follows that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir}(x_i - x_r)(x_i^{\bullet} - x_r^{\bullet}) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{\substack{r=1 \\ r=i}}^{m} w_{2ir}(x_i - x_r)x_i^{\bullet}.$$

Let $x^*_{Rk'} = (x^*_{R11}^k, x^*_{R12}^k, ..., x^*_{Rm1}^k, x^*_{Rm2}^k)$, represent an optimal solution at the kth iteration obtained by solving the multi-facility rectangular distance model RM(x), where $x^*_{Ri}^k$ is the optimal location of the ith new facility. Hansen, Perreur and Thisse (1980), Theorem 2, have proven that $x^*_{Ri}^k \in (S_1 \times S_2) \cap \Omega$ for at least one optimal solution. Using this result for $x^*_{Ri}^k$ and the definition of $\overline{\Omega}$, it follows that $x^*_{R}^k \in \overline{\Omega}$ for at least one optimal solution.

Theorem 2

For p=2,

 $\mathrm{RM}(\mathbf{x}^*\mathbf{R}^k) \geq J(\mathbf{x}^k)$

Proof:

By substituting for w'_{1ij}, w'_{1ij}, w'_{2ir} and w''_{2ir},

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{RM}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{R}}^{*}\mathbf{k}) &= \sum_{t=1}^{2} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathbf{w}_{1ij} | \mathbf{a}_{jt} - \mathbf{x}_{tt}^{k} | | \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rit}}^{*k} - \mathbf{a}_{jt} | / d_{2}(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) \right] \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} \mathbf{w}_{2ir} | \mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{rt}^{k} | | \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rit}}^{*k} - \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rrt}}^{*k} | / d_{2}(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k}, \mathbf{x}_{r}^{k}) \right] \\ &= \sum_{t=1}^{2} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathbf{w}_{1ij} | \mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{jt} | | \mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rrt}}^{*k} + \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rit}}^{*k} - \mathbf{a}_{jt} | / d_{2}(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) \right] \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} \mathbf{w}_{2ir} | (\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{rt}^{k}) | | (\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{rt}^{k}) - (\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{rt}^{k}) + \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rit}}^{*k} - \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rrt}}^{*k} | / d_{2}(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) \right] \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} \mathbf{w}_{2ir} | (\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{j}) | (\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{rt}^{k}) - (\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rit}}^{*k}) | d_{2}(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} \mathbf{w}_{2ir} | (\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{j}) | (\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{rt}^{k}) - (\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rit}}^{k}) | d_{2}(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} \mathbf{w}_{2ir} (\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rit}}^{k}) | (\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rit}}^{k}) - (\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rit}}^{k}) | d_{2}(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} \mathbf{w}_{2ir} (\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rit}}^{k}) | d_{2}(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{\mathsf{Rit}}) | d_{2}(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k}, \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rit}}) | d_{2}(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k}, \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rit}}) \\ &- \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathbf{w}_{1ij} (\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{j}) \mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} (d_{2}(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} \mathbf{w}_{2ir} (\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rit}}^{k}) | d_{2}(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k}, \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rit}}) \\ &- \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathbf{w}_{1ij} (\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{a}_{j}) \mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} (d_{2}(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k}, \mathbf{a}_{j}) + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} \mathbf{w}_{2ir} (\mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} - \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rit}}^{k}) | d_{2}(\mathbf{x}_{t}^{k}, \mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{Rit}}) \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathbf{w}_{1ij} (\mathbf{x}_{it}^$$

Applying Lemma 1 to

1

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir}^{*} (x_{it}^{k} - x_{rt}^{k}) (x_{it}^{k} - x_{rt}^{k})$$

and

.

ł

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{r=i+1}^{m} w_{2ir}(x_{it}^{k} - x_{rt}^{k})(x_{Rit}^{*k} - x_{Rrt}^{*k}),$$

then

59

1

i i

 $RM_{R}^{m}(x_{R}^{k}) \ge WM_{2}(x^{k}) - \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij}(x_{it}^{k} - a_{jt}) x_{it}^{k}/d_{2}(x_{i}^{k}, a_{j}) \right]$ $+\sum_{i=1}^{m}\sum_{\substack{r=1\\r\neq i}}^{m} w_{2ir}(x_{it}^{k}-x_{rt}^{k})x_{it}^{k}/d_{2}(x_{i}^{k},x_{r}^{k})\Big|$ $\sum_{t=1}^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{1ij}^{*} (x_{it}^{k} - a_{jt}) x_{Rit}^{*k} / d_{2}(x_{i}^{k}, a_{j})$ $+\sum_{i=1}^{m}\sum_{r=1}^{m}w_{2ir}(x_{it}^{k}-x_{rt}^{k})x_{Rit}^{*k}/d_{2}(x_{it}^{k},x_{r}^{k'})\Big]$

$$= WM_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{k}) - \sum_{t=1}^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{\partial WM_{2}(\mathbf{x})}{\partial x_{it}} \mathbf{x}_{it}^{k} + \sum_{t=1}^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{\partial WM_{2}(\mathbf{x})}{\partial x_{it}} \mathbf{x}_{Ri}^{k}$$

Therefore,

$$\operatorname{RM}(\mathbf{x}_{R}^{\mathbf{\star}\mathbf{k}}) \geq \operatorname{WM}_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{k}}) - \nabla \operatorname{WM}_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{k}})' \ \mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{k}} + \nabla \operatorname{WM}_{2}(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{k}})' \ \mathbf{x}_{R}^{\mathbf{\star}\mathbf{k}}$$

_ This expression can be compared to the Juel bound,

$$J(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{k}}) = WM_2(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{k}}) - \nabla WM_2(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{k}})' \mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{k}} + \min_{\mathbf{y}\in\overline{\Omega}} \{\nabla WM_1(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{k}})' \mathbf{y}\}$$

By choosing $x^*_{R^k} \in \overline{\Omega}$, then

$$\min_{\mathbf{y}\in\overline{\Omega}} \{\nabla WM_{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{k}})' \mathbf{y}\} \leq \nabla WM_{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{k}})' \mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{R}}^{*\mathbf{k}},$$

which means

$$\operatorname{RM}(\mathbf{x}_{R}^{*k}) \ge J(\mathbf{x}^{k}) \quad \text{for } \mathbf{x}_{R}^{*k} \in \overline{\Omega}$$

Multiple optimal solutions can occur when solving the multi-facility rectangular distance problem RM(x) at iteration k. An optimal solution may or may not be an element of $\overline{\Omega}$, but Theorem 2 from Hansen, Perreur and Thisse (1980) guarantees that at least one optimal solution is an element of $\overline{\Omega}$. Let $x^*_R^k$ and $z^*_R^k$ represent optimal solutions to RM(x) where $x^*_R^k \in \overline{\Omega}$ and $z^*_R^k \notin \overline{\Omega}$. Then, $RM(z^*_R^k) = RM(x^*_R^k) \ge J(x^k)$. Thus, for p=2, Theorem 2 holds for any optimal solution to the multi-facility rectangular distance problem at iteration k. This establishes that the rectangular bound can be used without any doubts about its convergence with Euclidean distances. Considerable computation time can be saved using this bound, as it required fewer iterations to reach the same level of percentage error difference as the other two bounds.

Theorem 2 in conjunction with the results of Juel (1984) and Elzinga and Hearn (1984) establishes that $B3 \ge B2 \ge B1$ for the Euclidean distance multi-facility model. The nature of the dual makes it difficult to provide a theoretical comparison with the other three bounds. In Tables 4.1 and 4.2 the Love-Yeong bounding method provided better bound values than the dual in a majority of the examples. The dual outperformed the Love-Yeong bound in only 2 of the 8 test problems, where the n and p values were 5 and 2 respectively. In the next section, the dual and the Love and Yeong bound will be compared using numerous examples for p = 2.

4.5 Comparison of the Dual (B4) and Love-Yeong Bound (B1)

Several test examples were constructed for the multi-facility hyperbolic approximation model with Euclidean distances (2.22) and solved using the generalized Weiszfeld iterative technique (2.23). At each iteration, the Love-Yeong and dual bounds were recorded in order to investigate the performance of B1 and B4 with respect to the number of existing facilities, the number of new facilities, the locations of the existing facilities and the values for the non-negative weights.

Test problems were constructed with m = 2 and 3 new facilities and n = 5, 10, 20 and 30 existing facilities. For each value of m and n, a value of w = 1, 2, 3, 4, 7, 8 and 10 was selected and the w_{1ij} weights were randomly generated over the interval [1,w]. For each of these test problems with n, m and w fixed, the bounds B1 and B4 were compared with the true objective function value for 25 iterations with $w_{2ir} = 1$. Then each problem was run again

61

۴

.

with the w_{2ir} weights randomly generated over the interval [1,w]. The bound values for these sample runs are displayed in Tables 4.3 to 4.10.

When m is fixed and n increases, this situation usually favours the Love and Yeong bound. For example, in Tables 4.3 and 4.7 for m = 2 and 3 respectively, when w is small and n is small the dual provided a better bound over the first 25 iterations. However, as n increases as in Tables 4.6 and 4.10 with w small, the dual usually provided a better bound over the first few iterations and then the Love and Yeong bound was better at each iteration. When n and m are fixed and w increases in value, this usually has the tendency to favour the Love and Yeong bound. Also, when the w_{1ij} weights were selected from the interval [1,w] and the w_{2ir} weights were changed from a unit value to a value from the range [1,w], then this situation usually favoured the Love and Yeong bound. No definite patterns have really emerged for the Love-Yeong and dual bounds involving n, m and w. In Table 4.5 where m = 2, n = 20, $w_{1ij} \in [1,4]$ and $w_{2ir} \in [1,1]$, the dual provided a better bound over iterations 1-3 and 15-25 and the Love-Yeong bound was better over iterations 4-14. It is doubtful if any pattern occurs involving n, m and w where either bound can be declared to be superior to the other for all situations.

ł

The effect of outliers was tested for m = 2 and 3 new facilities where each existing facility coordinate, except for the single outlier, was randomly generated from the interval $\$ [0,50]. The w_{1ij} weights were randomly generated from the interval [1,4] and the w_{2ir} weights were assigned a value of 1, 4 or 8. Each multi-facility Euclidean distance model was solved 6 times, using 2 outlier values and 3 different outlier weights: The B1 and B4 bound values and true objective function are shown in Table 4.11 for sample runs with 2 and 3 new facilities and 5 and 10 existing facilities. In each test run, the solution procedure was terminated when an error difference of $e \le 0.01$ was reached or when 25 iterations were completed.

/

62

ð
| nterval for v _{1ij} weights | val for Interval for . Iteration weights w _{2ir} weights Obj. Fn. B1 | | Iteration 25 B1 | B4 | Iteration B1 > B4 | n Range B4 > B1 |
|---|--|---------|--------------------|---------|----------------------|--------------------|
| | (1.1) | 216.68 | 178.16 | 173.19 | 14-25 | 1-13 |
| [1,2] | [1,1] | 391.73 | 353.90 | 357.44 | | 1-25 |
| [1,2] | [1.2] | 397.21 | 307.96 | 312.70 | | 1-25 |
| [1 3] | [1.1] | 405.11 | 403.41 | 404.76 | 3-4 | 1-2 |
| [1,3] | | | | | | 5-25 |
| | [1,3] | 415.80 | 237.40 | 236.59 | 25 | 1-24 |
| [3,4] | [1,0] | 462.62 | 460.39 | 461.27 | 6-18 | 1-5 |
| [1,4] | (-,-, | | | | | 19-25 |
| | [1 4] | 477.11 | 400.08 | 408.46 | | 1-25 |
| (1.7) | [1 1] | 1097.18 | 1094.97 | 1096.92 | 6-17 | 1-5 |
| [[1,1] | , , | | • | | | 18-25 |
| | [1 7] | 1154.77 | 731.86 | 839.23 | | 1-25 |
| [[] | (1) | 879.82 | 877.35 | 878.40 | 4-21 | 1-3 |
| | [-,-] | | | | | 22-25 |
| | La | 1017.97 | 547.61 | 630.58 | | 1-25 |
| (1.10) | | 1212.54 | 1203.24 | 1185.38 | 3-25 | 1-2 |
| | | 1269.16 | s 843.11 | 866.77 | | 1-25 |
| · . | | | | *e' | | |

•

Table 4.3: Love-Yeong and Dual Comparison for 2 New and 5 Existing Facilities

.

ì

.

| Interval for | Interval for | | Iteration 25 | • | Iteratio | on Range |
|--------------------------|--------------------------|----------|--------------|---------|----------|----------|
| w _{1ii} weights | w _{2ir} weights | Obj. Fn. | В1 | B4 | B1 > B4 | B4 > B1 |
| | | | | | | |
| [1,1] | [1,1] | 309.29 | 306.11 | 277.13 | 22-25 | 1-21 |
| [1,2] | [1,1] | 489.30 | 425.78 | 438.77 | | 1-25 |
| | [1,2] | 513.77 | 373.48 | 394.93 | | 1-25 |
| [1,3] | [1,1] | 571.12 | 568.90 | 547.64 | 19-25 | 1-18 |
| | [1,3] | 600.89 | 518.89 | 544.57 | | 1-25 |
| [1,4] | [1,1] | 576.32 | 494.50 | 494.94 | 18-25 | 1-17 |
| | [1,4] | 611.31 | 443.98 | 437.75 | 21-25 | 1-20 |
| [1-7] | [1,1] | 934.20 | 930.41 | 727.76 | 12-25 | 1-11 |
| | [1,7] | 1326.88 | 1193.57 | 1151.63 | 3-25 | 1-2 |
| [1-8] | [1,1] | 1479.95 | 1469.58 | 1421.50 | 15-25 | 1-14 |
| 1 | [1,8] | 1532.61 | 1495.15 | 1472.98 | 22-25 | 1-21 |
| [1,10] | [1,1] | 2041.33 | 2036.10 | 1609.61 | 2-25 | 1 |
| | [1,10] | 2140.41 | 2036.66 | 1876.98 | 2-25 | 1 |
| | | | | | | |

~

ð

Table 4.4: Love-Yeong and Dual Comparison for 2 New and 10 Existing Facilities

4

Ð

-

| Interval for w_{1ij} weightsInterval for w_{2ir} weightsIteration 25 Obj. Fn.Iteration 25 B1Iteration B1 > B4 $[1,1]$ $[1,1]$ 776.77 740.81 727.27 $24-25$ $[1,2]$ $[1,1]$ 1188.34 1184.39 1187.24 $6-9$ 4 $[1,2]$ 1189.99 1185.15 1187.22 $10-13$ | Range B4 > B1 1-23 1-5 10-25 1-9 14-25 |
|---|--|
| $ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | 1-23 1-5 10-25 1-9 14-25 |
| [1,2] [1,1] 1188.34 1184.39 1187.24 6-9 [1,2] 1189.99 1185.15 1187.22 10-13 | 1-5 10-25 1-9 14-25 |
| + (. [1,2] 1189.99 1185.15 1187.22 10-13 | 10-25 1-9 14-25 |
| [1,2] 1189.99 1185.15 1187.22 10-13 | 1-9 14-25 |
| | 14-25 |
| | |
| [1,3] [1,1] < 1473.61 1470.10 1472.51 | 1-25 |
| · '[1,3] 1476.15 1414.44 1387.50 6-25 | 1-5 |
| [1,4] [1,1] 2056.15 2051.66 2051.99 4-14 | 1-3 |
| | 15-25 |
| [1,4] 2057.17 1967.25 1826.09 3-25 | 1-2 |
| [1,7] [1,1] 2609.87 2602.19 2599.96 2-25 | 1 |
| [1,7] 2622.17 2600.72 2562.38 3-25 | 1-2 |
| [1,8] [1,1] 3580.08 3571.33 3572.95 2-12 | 1 |
| | 13-25 |
| [1,8] 3590.35 3410.88 3352.38 8-25 | 1-7 |
| [1,10] [1,1] 5020.56 5006.36 5007.63 2-10 | 1 |
| | 11-25 |
| [1,10] 5040.93 4872.46 4538.16 3-25 | 1-2 |

ş

Ġ.,

4

Table 4.5: Love-Yeong and Dual Comparison for 2 New and 20 Existing Facilities

γ

65

| Interval for w _{1ij} weights | Interval for w _{2ir} weights | Obj. Fn. | Iteration 25 B1 | B4 | Iteratio B1 > B4 | n Range B4 > B1 |
|--|--|----------|--------------------|----------|---------------------|--------------------|
| <u>`[1,1]</u> | [1,1] | 1122.52 | 1102.42 | 1080.34 | 11-25 | 1-10 |
| [1,2] | [1,1] | 1692.81 | 1681.63 | 1669.66 | 7-25 | e 1-6 |
| x = y = | [1,2] | 1692.97 | 1646.66 | 1605.33 | 9-25 | 1-8 |
| [1,3] | [1,1] | 2138.26 | 2125.50 | 2126.39 | 3-21 | 1-2 |
| | | | | 14 14 | | 22-25 |
| ~ | [1,3] | 2139.07 | 2047.53 | 1938.76 | 3-25 | 1-2 |
| [1,4] | (¥,1) | 3206.94 | 3201.18 | 3202.79 | 4-11 | 1-3 |
| | | | | | | 12-25 |
| | [1,4] | 3213.29 | 3064.33 | 2954.72 | 3-25 | 1-2 |
| [1,7] | [1,1] | 3591.73 | 3583.10 | 3585.39 | 1-12 | 1 |
| | | | | | | 13-25 |
| | [1,7] | 3602.53 | 3582.50 | 3574.40 | 3-25 | 1-2 |
| [1,8] | • [1,1] | 5046.98 | 5035.21 | 5033.80 | 3-25 | 1-2 |
| | `[1,8] | 5072.44 | 5054.96 | 5057.89 | 3-23 | 1-2 |
| | | | • | | | 24-25 |
| [1,10] | [1,1] | 6902.27 | 6881.76 | 6872,66 | 2-25 | · 1 |
| | [1,10] | 6903.02 | 6764.80 | 6624.59 | 2-25 | 1 |

÷

Table 4.6: Love-Yeong and Dual Comparison for 2 New and 30 Existing Facilities

•

•

| Interval for | Interval for | | Iteration 25 | | Iteratio | n Range |
|--------------------------|--------------------------|------------|--------------|---------|----------|---------|
| w _{1ij} weights | w _{2ir} weights | , Obj. Fn. | B1 | B4 | B1 > B4 | B4 > B1 |
| | | | | | | |
| [1,1] | [1,1] | 353.01 | 160.22 | 194.95 | | 1-25 |
| [1,2] | [1,1] | 512.17 | 363.38 | 383.86 | | 1-25 |
| | [1,2] | 539.24 | 261.38 | 333.48 | | 1-25 |
| [1,3] | [1,1] | 599.28 | 435.24 | 497.44 | | 1-25 |
| | [1,3] | 687.34 | 223.69 | 343.99 | | 1-25 |
| [1,4] ' | [1,1] | 613.31 | 505.04 | 488.99 | 4-25 | 1-3 |
| | [1,4] | 626.73 | 626.81 | 324.23 | 17-25 | 1-16 |
| [1,7] | [1,1] | 1313.56 | 1309.01 | 1311.39 | 2-18 | 1 |
| | | | | Z. | | 19-25 |
| | [1,7] | 1357.12 | 846.70 | 718.92 | 3-25 | 1-2 |
| [1,8] | [1,1] | 1350.70 | 1346.22 | 1346.11 | 3-25 | 1-2 |
| • | [1,8] | 1384.78 | 1194.00 | 947.12 | 5-25 | 1-4 |
| [1,10] | [1,1] | 1740.62 | 1733.44 | 1725.36 | 3-25 | 1-2 |
| | [1,10] | 1774.73 | 1260.71 | 1376.29 | | 1-25 |
| | | <u> </u> | | | | |

Table 4.7: Love-Yeong and Dual Comparison for 3 New and 5 Existing Facilities

| Interval for Interval for | | | Iteration 25 | | | on Range |
|---------------------------|--------------------------|----------|--------------|---------|---------|----------|
| w _{1ii} weights | w _{2ir} weights | Obj. Fn. | B1 | B4 | B1 > B4 | B4 > B1 |
| | · | | | | | |
| [1,1] | [1,1] | 491.46 | 302.19 | 363.38 | | 1-25 |
| [1,2] | [1,1] | 778.99 | 600.45 | 626.60 | 1 | 1-25 |
| | [1,2] | 792.34 | 447.86 | 565.37 | | 1-25 |
| ´ [1,3] | [1,1] | 933.60 | 930.91 | 880.84 | 15-25 | 1-14 |
| | [1,3] | 947.91 | 523.18 | 704.22 | | 1-25 |
| .[1,4] | [1,1] | 1030.59 | 1023.30 | 917.90 | 8-25 | 1-7 |
| | [1,4] | 1046.84 | 662.28 | 629.30 | 16-25 | 1-15 |
| [1,7] | [1,1] | 1937.70 | 1904.03 | 1467.34 | 2-25 | 1 |
| | [1,7] | 1940.93 | 1583.47 | 1474.89 | 4-25 | 1-3 |
| [1,8] | [1,1] | 2018.00 | 1982.73 | 1881.98 | 8-25 | 1-7 |
| • | [1,8] | 2046.70 | 1440.66 | 1558.69 | | 1-25 |
| [1,10] | [1,1] | 2823.75 | 2816.38 | 2288.97 | 2-25 | 1 |
| | [1,10] | 2896.86 | 2210.08 | 2307.16 | 3-5 | 1-2 - |
| , | | | Ŧ | | | 6-25 |
| | | | | | | i |

Table 4.8: Love-Yeong and Dual Comparison for 3 New and 10 Existing Facilities

;

.

۲

ł

ł

,

| Interval for | terval for Interval for | | Iteration 25 | | | Iteration Range | | |
|--------------------------|--------------------------|----------|--------------|---------|---------|-----------------|--|--|
| w _{1ij} weights | w _{2ir} weights | Obj. Fn. | B1 | B4 | B1 > B4 | B4 > B1 | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| {1,1} | [1,1] | 1167.35 | 1039.14 | 1017.73 | 17-25 | 1-16 | | |
| [1,2] | [1,1] | 1807.27 | 1802.64 | 1806.88 | 5-12 | 1-4 | | |
| | | | () | per l' | | 13-25 | | |
| | [1,2] | 1811.23 | 667.74 | 1626.62 | 6-25 | 1-5 | | |
| [1,3] | [1,1] | 2155.69 | 2128.11 | 2097.12 | 5-25 | 1-4 | | |
| | [1,3] | 2162.26 | 1921.21 | 1832.69 | 3-25 | 1-2 | | |
| [1,4] | [1,1] | 2952.19 | 2951.71 | 2951.70 | 4-25 | 1-3 | | |
| | [1,4] | 2973.58 | 2391.74 | 2077.12 | 4-25 | 1-3 | | |
| [1,7] | [1,1] | 4118.07 | 4108.43 | 4177.99 | 2-11 | 1 | | |
| | | | • | | | 12-25 | | |
| | [1,7] | 4131.37 | 3997.00 | 3867.86 | 4-25 | 1-3 | | |
| [1,8] | [1,1] | 5114.04 | 5102.10 | 5114.04 | 3-10 | 1-2 | | |
| | | | | | | 11-25 | | |
| | [1,8] | 5126.90 | 5113.95 | 5125.82 | 3-11 | 1-2 | | |
| | | | | | | . 12-25 | | |
| [1,10] | [1,1] | 7107.97 | 7091.62 | 7107.59 | 2-14 | 1 | | |
| | | | | | | 15-25 | | |
| 8 | [1,10] | 7131.53 | 6594.70 | 4798.83 | 2-25 | 1 | | |

Table 4.9: Love-Yeong and Dual Comparison for 3 New and 20 Existing Facilities

į

1

...

| | Interval for | ``` | Iteration 25 | | Iteration Range | | |
|--------------------------|--------------------------|----------|---------------------|---------|-----------------|---------|--|
| w _{1ij} weights | w _{2ir} weights | Obj. Fn. | B1 | B4 | B1 > B4 | B4 > B1 | |
| | | | | | | | |
| [1,1] | [1,1] | 1684.63 | 1581.42 | 1540.40 | 14-25 | 1-13 | |
| [1,2] | [1,1] | 2537.95 | 2475.43 | 2441.66 | 9-25 | 1-8 | |
| | [1,2] | 2538.43 | 2433.85 | 2403.78 | 8-25 | 1-7 | |
| [1,3] | [1,1] | 3123.25 | 3058.57 | 3039.69 | 3-25 | 1.2 | |
| | [1,3] | 3124.73 | 2938.04 | 2723.76 | 3-25 | 1-2 | |
| [1,4] | [1,1] | 4423.13 | 4412.43 | 4422.96 | 4-12 | 1-3 | |
| | • | | | | | 13-25 | |
| | [1,4] | 4434.12 | 4247.04 | 4040.40 | 4-25 | 1-3 | |
| [1,7] | [1,1] | 6536.95 | 6517.34 | 6475.04 | .2-25 | 1 | |
| | [1,7] | 6547.70 | 6418.68 | 6211.72 | 2-25 | 1 | |
| [1,8] | [1,1] | 7410.06 | 7492.02 | 7509.80 | 3-13 | 1-2 | |
| | | | | | 1 | 14-25 | |
| | [1,8] | 7519.32 | 7499.81 | 7515.89 | 3-18 | 1-2 | |
| | | | | | | 19-25 | |
| [1,10] | [1,1] | 9924.45 | 9900.98 | 9920.50 | 2-16 | 1 | |
| | | | | | | 17-25 | |
| v | [1,10] | 9955.71 | 9776.32 | 8030.32 | 2-25 | 1 | |

Table 4.10: Love-Yeong and Dual Comparison for 3 New and 30 Existing Facilities

0

4 🖬

70

/

| | m , | | | | 2 | <u> </u> | | | 3 | |
|------|------------|---------------------------------|-------------|-------------|--------|----------|------------------|-------------|--------|--------|
| n | Outlier | Outlier We ^f ight | No. Iter | Obj. Fn. | B1 | B4 | No. Iter. | Obj. Fn. | Bı | B4 |
| 5 | (78,93) | 1 | 25* | 540.3 | 524.7 | 534.8 | 25* | 894.8 | 372.5 | 651.1 |
| | | 4 | 9 | 1002.5 | 993.5 | 996.0 | 25* | 1468.5 | 1253.8 | 1338.3 |
| | | 8 | 25* | 1441.8 | 1366.5 | 1344.3 | 25• | 2199.4 | 1980.9 | 1773.1 |
| | (126,112)⁴ | 1 | 16-5 | 614.1 | 604.4 | 611.5 | 25• | 987.8 | 562.4 | 855.0 |
| | | 4 | 25• | 1323.0 | 1187.4 | 1160.4 | 25• | 1955.3 | 1369.3 | 1445.3 |
| | | 8 | 25* | 2112.2 | 2023.8 | 1923.4 | 25• | 3259.7 | 3029.8 | 2648.8 |
| 10 | (78,93) | 1 | 25* | 712.4 | 667.8 | 687.5 | 25• | 1194.9 | 846.1 | 971.0 |
| | | -4 | 24` | 1258.3 | 1247.9 | 1228.0 | 25* | 2009.0 | 1879.0 | 1896.2 |
| | در | 8 | 14 | 1973.8 | 1957.7 | 1953.6 | 2 [.] 5 | 3079.7 | 3048.9 | 3031.2 |
| | (126,112) | 1, | 25* | 826.5 | 815.2 | 718.2 | 25• | 1302.5 | 793.5 | 1045.2 |
| | | 4 | 14 | 1635.1 | 1626.1 | 1564.0 | 23 | 2435.4 | 2413.1 | 2356.0 |
| | | 8 | 12 | 2727.4 | 2710.6 | 2553.4 | 12` | 3933.0 | 3899.2 | 3616.0 |

• did not converge to within 1% error difference in 25 iterations.

- 2

Ş

Table 4.11: Outlier Data for 2 and 3 New Facilities with $w_{2ir}=1,\cdots$

E.

Ø

As in the single facility situation, the presence of an outlier among the existing facilities favours the dual. However, as the outlier weight is increased, the dual loses its advantage and the Love-Yeong bound is better. As the number of existing facilities increases, this also favours the Love and Yeong bound.

4.6 <u>Conclusions</u>

For p = 2, the Drezner bound is superior to the Love and Yeong, Juel, and dual bounds. In some cases the Juel, Love and Yeong, and dual bounds required twice as many iterations to reach the same value as the Drezner bound. Considerable computational savings can be achieved by using the Drezner bound with an iterative solution technique. The dual has, in most instances, been the poorest bound. In situations where the dual has been better than the Love-Yeong bound, this has been achieved by sacrificing computation time. The computation time required when calculating the Juel or Love-Yeong bound is increased, on average, by a factor of 3.2 when the dual bound is used.

When 1 , the Juel method provides the best bound from among the four methods. As in the single facility case, the multi-facility Drezner and dual bounds may experience convergence problems when <math>p < 2.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSION

5.1 User Criteria for Selecting a Bounding Method

This thesis has shown that the practitioner, when considering a bounding method to terminate an iterative computational procedure for a single or multi-facility ℓ_p distance location model, can make a choice based upon the value of the parameter p.

For 1 , the best bound value was obtained by using the Juel method. The Juelbound is computationally efficient and has been proven to be as good or better than the Loveand Yeong bound. Since the Drezner and dual bounds may experience convergence problemsfor <math>1 , the useage of these two bounds should be confined to models with Euclideandistances.

٤

When p = 2, the best bound was obtained by using Drezner's method which requires the solution of a location model with rectangular distances. The single facility rectilinear model can easily be solved, which gives the Drezner bound a computational advantage over the other three bounds. This thesis has established the effectiveness of the single and multifacility Drezner bounds over the Love-Yeong and Juel bounds by proving that the Drezner bound is always as good or better than the Juel bound for p = 2. The superiority of the Drezner bound over the dual has been shown using many examples. Since an interactive program was used to solve the multi-facility rectilinear problem to obtain the Drezner bound value, no computation times are available for the multi-facility bound. Procedures for solving the multi-facility rectilinear model have been given by Juel and Love (1976), and Drezner and Wesolowsky (1978b). One of these techniques for solving the multi-facility rectilinear model could be incorporated in the Drezner bounding method and then computation times could be obtained to compare all four methods. Even if the Drezner bound required double or triple the computation time of the Juel bound, this disadvantage could be offset by calculating the Drezner bound after every second or third iteration.

The statement made by Wendell and Peterson (1984) that the dual is often much better than the Juel or Love-Yeong bound for the single facility Euclidean distance model has been shown to have little validity. The dual requires more computation time than the other three methods and, in general, yields bound values which do not compare favourably with the sother three methods.

5.2 Future Research

This thesis has extended the Drezner and dual bounds to include the multi-facility model with ℓ_p distances, and shown the superiority of the Drezner bound for the Euclidean distance situations. One problem which has emerged is that for p < 2 both the dual and Drezner bounds may experience convergence problems. An area for future research would entail investigating the reasons for this lack of convergence.

<u>APPENDIX A</u>

6

27

PROJECTION MATRIX FOR THE SINGLE FACILITY ℓ_p DISTANCE MODEL

Given the $2 \times 2n$ matrix

$$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{g}} = \left(\begin{array}{ccc} \mathbf{1} \dots \mathbf{1} & \mathbf{0} \dots \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} \dots \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{1} \dots \mathbf{1} \end{array}\right)$$

the projection matrix $P = I - A_g^{(1)} (A_g A_g')^{-1} A_g$ can be derived as follows. $A_g A_g'$ is a 2×2 matrix

where any element $x_{ij} \in A_g A_g'$ can be written as

$$a_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{2n} a_{ik} a_{kj}$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{2n} a_{ik} a_{jk}$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{n} a_{ik} a_{jk} + \sum_{k=n+1}^{m} a_{ik} a_{jk} \text{ for } ij = 1, 2.$$

Since $a_{1k} = a_{2(n+k)} = 1$ for k = 1, ..., n and $a_{1k} = a_{2(k-n)} = 0$ for k = n+1, ..., 2n;

for i = j,
$$x_{ii} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} a_{ik} a_{ik} + \sum_{k=n+1}^{2n} a_{ik} a_{ik} = r$$

and for
$$i \neq j$$
, $x_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} a_{ik}a_{jk} + \sum_{k=n+1}^{2n} a_{ik}a_{jk} = 0$.

$$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{g}}\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{g}}^{'} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{n} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{n} \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } (\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{g}}\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{g}}^{'})^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1}/\mathbf{n} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{1}/\mathbf{n} \end{pmatrix},$$

so that $A_{g'}(A_{g}A_{g'})^{-1} = (1/n)A_{g'}$ and $A_{g'}(A_{g}A_{g'})^{-1}A_{g} = (1/n)A_{g'}A_{g}$. Now, $(1/n)A_{g'}A_{g}$ is a $2n \times 2n$ matrix where any element $x_{ij} \in (1/n)A_{g'}A_{g}$ can be written as

76

$$\mathbf{x}_{ij} = (1/n) \sum_{\mathbf{k}=1}^{2} a'_{i\mathbf{k}} a_{\mathbf{k}j}$$

= (1/n) $\sum_{\mathbf{k}=1}^{2} a_{\mathbf{k}i} a_{\mathbf{k}j}$
= (1/n) $[a_{1i} a_{1j} + a_{2i} a_{2j}].$

Therefore

$$\mathbf{x}_{ij} = \begin{cases} (1/n)[(1)(1) + 0] & i, j = 1, ..., n \\ (1/n)[0 + (1)(1)] & i, j = n + 1, ..., 2n \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

or

1

1

$$\mathbf{x}_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1/n & i, j = 1, ..., n; \ i, j = n+1, ..., 2n \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

The $2n \times 2n$ projection matrix P can be written as

$$P = I - A'_{g}(A_{g}A'_{g})^{-1}A_{g}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} R & O \\ O & R \end{bmatrix}$$

where R is an $n \times n$ matrix with elements

 $\mathbf{r}_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1 - 1/n & i = j \\ -1/n & i \neq j \end{cases}.$

APPENDIX B

CALCULATION OF Ag Ag' FOR THE MULTI-FACILITY PROJECTION MATRIX

Given the $2m \times [m(m-1) + 2mn]$ matrix

 $\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{g}} = \left[\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{B} & \mathbf{O} \\ \mathbf{O} & \mathbf{B} \end{array} \right]$

 $A_{\mathbf{r}}A_{\mathbf{r}}'$ can be determined using

$$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{g}}\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{g}}^{'} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{B}\mathbf{B}^{'} & \mathbf{O} \\ \mathbf{O} & \mathbf{B}\mathbf{B}^{'} \end{bmatrix}$$

â

The elements in matrix B only take on the values 1, 0 or -1, so that row i can be described in terms of row index sets containing the column indices of the elements in row i which have values of 1 or -1. Then, using properties of these index sets, matrix BB' can be calculated.

The $m \times [m(m-1)/2 + mn]$ matrix B has elements q, where

$$\mathbf{J}^{\mathbf{A}} \qquad \mathbf{q}_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1 & j \in \mathbf{I}_1(i) \cup \mathbf{I}_2(i) \\ -1 & j \in \mathbf{I}_3(i) \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

with

$$I_{1}(i) = \left\{ \ell + \sum_{\substack{k=1 \ i>1}}^{i-1} (m-k) \mid \ell = 1, ..., m-i; \quad i < m \right\}$$

$$I_{2}(i) = \left\{ [M + n(i-1)] + 1, ..., [M + n(i-1)] + n \right\}$$

$$I_{3}(i) = \left\{ i - \ell + \sum_{\substack{k=1 \ \ell>1}}^{\ell-1} (m-k) \mid \ell = 1, ..., i-1; \quad i \ge 2 \right\} \text{ for } M = m(m-1)/2.$$

77

22

and

۴

The following properties are evident from the definitions of \mathbf{q}_{ij} and the index sets.

 λ_{\bullet}

Let n(S) denote the number of elements in set S. (i) $n(I_1(i)) = m-i$ (ii) $n(I_2(i)) = n$ (iii) $n(I_3(i)) = i-1$

Property 2

Property 1

(i) For r ∈ I₁(i), t ∈ I₁(j) if i < j then r < t.
 (ii) For r ∈ I₁(i), t ∈ I₃(i) then t < r.

Property 3

(i) $I_1(i) \cap I_2(i) = \varphi$ (ii) $I_1(i) \cap I_3(i) = \varphi$ (iii) $I_2(i) \cap I_3(i) = \varphi$

Property 4

For i ≠ j

(i) $I_1(i) \cap I_1(j) = \phi$ (ii) $I_1(i) \cap I_2(j) = \phi$ (iii) $I_1(i) \cap I_3(j) \neq \phi$ for i < j, so that $n(I_1(i) \cap I_3(j)) = 1$ (iv) $I_1(i) \cap I_3(j) = \phi$ for i > j(v) $I_2(i) \cap I_3(j) = \phi$ (vi) $I_2(i) \cap I_2(j) = \phi$ (vii) $I_3(i) \cap I_2(j) = \phi$

The preceding properties can be used to determine the elements \mathbf{x}_{ij} of the m×m matrix BB', where

$$x_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{M+mn} q_{ik} q_{kj}$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{M+mn} q_{ik} q_{jk}$$

$$= \sum_{k \in I_1(i)} q_{ik} q_{jk} + \sum_{k \in I_2(i)} q_{ik} q_{jk} + \sum_{k \in I_3(i)} q_{ik} q_{jk}$$

$$x_{ii} = \sum_{k \in I_1(i)} q_{ik} q_{ik} + \sum_{k \in I_2(i)} q_{ik} q_{ik} + \sum_{k \in I_3(i)} q_{ik} q_{ik}$$

$$= n(I_1(i))((1)(1)) + n(I_2(i))((1)(1)) + n(I_3(i))((-1)(-1))$$

$$= m - i^{1} + n + i - 1$$

For i≠j,

1.2

Ł

~-1

For i=j,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{x}_{ij} &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{1}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}}^{\aleph q_{j\mathbf{k}}} + \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{1}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} + \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{2}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{2}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} + \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{2}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} + \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{2}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} \\ \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{1}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} + \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} \\ \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{1}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} + \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{1}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} \\ \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} + \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{1}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} \\ \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} + \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{1}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} \\ \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} + \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} \\ \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} \\ \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} \\ \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} \\ \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(j) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} \\ \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} \\ \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} \\ \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(j)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} \\ \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(i)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} \\ \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(i)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} \\ \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(i)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} \\ \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(i)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} \\ \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(i)}} q_{i\mathbf{k}} q_{j\mathbf{k}} \\ \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \notin \mathbf{I}_{3}(i)}} q_{$$

For i < j,

$$\mathbf{x}_{ij} = \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_1(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_3(i)}} \mathbf{q}_{i\mathbf{k}} \mathbf{q}_{j\mathbf{k}} = \mathbf{1}(-1) = -1$$

For i > j,

$$\mathbf{x}_{ij} = \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{3}(i) \\ \mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{I}_{1}(j)}} \mathbf{q}_{ik} \mathbf{q}_{jk} = (-1)(1) = -1$$

×_{ij} =

= m + n - 1.

Therefore $x_{ij} = \begin{cases} m + n - 1 & i = j \\ -1 & \text{otherwise} & i, j = 1, ..., m. \end{cases}$

Thus,

Ŗ

(

 $A_{g}A_{g}' = \begin{bmatrix} BB' & O \\ O & BB' \end{bmatrix}$ $= \begin{bmatrix} A & O \\ O & A \end{bmatrix}$

 $\mathbf{a}_{ij} = \begin{cases} \mathbf{m} + \mathbf{n} - 1 & \mathbf{i} = \mathbf{j} \\ -1 & \mathbf{i} \neq \mathbf{j}. \end{cases}$

where A is an $m \times m$ symmetric matrix with elements

APPENDIX C

CALCULATION OF $(A_g A_g')^{-1}$ FOR THE MULTI-FACILITY PROJECTION MATRIX

From Appendix B,

$$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{g}}\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{g}}^{'} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{A} \cdot \mathbf{O} \\ \mathbf{O} \mathbf{A} \end{bmatrix}$$

where A is an $n \times n$ symmetric matrix with elements

$$\mathbf{a}_{ij} = \begin{cases} \mathbf{m} + \mathbf{n} - 1 & i = j \\ -1 & i \neq j. \end{cases}$$

The $2m \times 2m$ symmetric matrix $(A_{\mathfrak{s}} \cdot A_{\mathfrak{s}}')^{-1}$ can be calculated using

$$\left(\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{g}}\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{g}}\right)^{-1} = \left[\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{A}^{-1} & \mathbf{O} \\ \mathbf{O} & \mathbf{A}^{-1} \end{array}\right]$$

where A^{-1} is an $m \times m$ symmetric matrix with elements

$$\mathbf{a}_{ij}^{-1} = \begin{cases} \mathbf{c} & \mathbf{i} = \mathbf{j} \\ \mathbf{d} & \mathbf{i} \neq \mathbf{j}. \end{cases}$$

Since $A \cdot A^{-1} = 1$, take $x_{ij} \in I$, then

$$\mathbf{x}_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{m} \mathbf{a}_{ik} \mathbf{a}_{kj}^{-1} \qquad i, j = 1, ..., n.$$

For i = j, $\mathbf{x}_{ii} = 1$ and

8

$$\mathbf{l} = \sum_{k=1}^{m} \mathbf{a}_{ik} \mathbf{a}_{ki}^{-1}$$

$$= a_{ii}a_{ii}^{-1} + \sum_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq i}}^{m} a_{ik}a_{ki}^{-1}$$

$$= (n + m - 1)c + (m - 1)(-1)d$$
.

This provides one of the equations required to solve for c and d,

$$(n+m-1)c - (m-1)d = 1$$
.

(1)

(2)

8

For $i \neq j$, $x_{ij} = 0$ and

$$0 = \sum_{k=1}^{m} a_{ik} a_{kj}^{-1}$$

= $a_{ii} a_{ij}^{-1} + a_{ij} a_{jj}^{-1} + \sum_{\substack{k=1 \ k \neq i,j}}^{m} a_{ik} a_{kj}^{-1}$

= (n + m - 1)d + (-1)c + (m - 2)(-1)d.

This provides a second equation,

$$(n+1)d-c = 0.$$

By substituting c = (n+1)d into equation (1) and solving for d, the elements of A^{-1} are obtained as d = 1/n(n+m) and c = (n+1)/n(n+m).

Thus A^{-1} is an m \times m symmetric matrix with elements

$$\mathbf{a}_{ij}^{-1} = \begin{cases} (n+1)/n(n+m) & i=j\\ 1/n(n+m) & i\neq j. \end{cases}$$

APPENDIX D

PROJECTION MATRIX FOR THE MULTI-FACILITY **(**_P DISTANCE MODEL

The calculation of the projection matrix $P = I - A_g'(A_gA_g')^{-1} A_g$ will be accomplished in three stages, beginning with the calculation of $A_g'(A_gA_g')^{-1}$, then $A_g'(A_gA_g')^{-1} A_g$ and ending with the final form for P.

1.

Calculation of Ag'(AgAg')-1

Recall that $A_{g}'(A_{g}A_{g}')^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} B' & 0 \\ 0 & B' \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & A^{-1} \end{bmatrix}$ with A^{-1} defined

as in Appendix B. A-1 can be written as $A^{-1} = (1/n(n+m)) A$ where A is an $m \times m$ symmetric matrix with elements

$$\mathbf{a}_{ij} = \begin{cases} \mathbf{n} \\ (\mathbf{n}+1) & i = j \\ 1 & i \neq j \end{cases}$$

Then,

$$A_{g}'(A_{g}A_{g}')^{-1} = 1/n(n+m) \begin{bmatrix} B'A & 0\\ 0 & B'\overline{A} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Using $B = [B_1...B_{m-1}C_1...C_m]$, B'A will contain the submatrices B_1 'A, ..., B_{m-1} 'A,

 $C_1'A, ..., C_m'$. From the definitions of B_t and C_r , the elements $b_{ij}' \in B_t'$ and $c_{ij}' \in C_r'$ can be expressed as

$$b_{ij}' = \begin{cases} 1 & j=t \\ -1 & j=i+t \\ 0 & otherwise \end{cases}$$

and $c_{ij}' = \begin{cases} 1 & j=t \\ -1 & j=i+t \\ 0 & otherwise \end{cases}$ $i = 1, \dots, m; j = 1, \dots, m; r = 1, \dots, m.$

Take any element $x_{ij} \in B_t$ 'A for t = 1, ..., m-1;

$$\mathbf{x}_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{m} \mathbf{b}_{ij}' \, \overline{\mathbf{a}}_{kj}$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{k=1 \\ k \neq t, i+t}}^{m} \mathbf{b}_{ik}' \, \overline{\mathbf{a}}_{kj} + \mathbf{b}_{it}' \, \overline{\mathbf{a}}_{tj} + \mathbf{b}_{i(i+t)}' \, \overline{\mathbf{a}}_{(i+t)j}$$

 $= a_{tj} - a_{(i+t)j} \text{ for } i = 1, ..., m - t \text{ and } j = 1, ..., m.$ For j = t, $x_{it} = a_{tt} - a_{(i+t)t} = n + 1 - 1 = n$.

For j=i+t, $x_{i(i+t)} = a_{t(i+t)} - a_{(i+t)(i+t)} = 1 - (n+1) = -n$.

For $j \neq t$, i + t; $x_{ij} = 1 - 1 = 0$.

Thus, $D_t = B_t'$ A is an (m-t)×m matrix with elements \sim

$$d_{ij} = \begin{cases} n & j = t \\ -n & j = i + t & \text{for } t = 1, ..., m - 1 \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Take any element π_{ij} from the n \times m matrix product C_r' A,

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{m} c_{ij}' \overline{a}_{kj}$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq r}}^{m} c_{ik}' \overline{a}_{kj} + c_{ir}' \overline{a}_{rj}$$
$$= c_{ir}' \overline{a}_{rj} \quad \text{for } r = 1, \dots m.$$

For j = r, $x_{ir} = c_{ir}' a_{rr} = 1$ (n+1) = n+1.

For $j \neq r$, $x_{ij} = c_{ir}' a_{rj} = 1$ (1) = 1.

¢

x_{ij}

Thus $\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{r}} = \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{r}} \cdot \mathbf{A}$ is an $n \times m$ matrix with elements

 $\mathbf{e}_{ij} = \begin{cases} \mathbf{n+1} & j=r \\ & \text{for } r=1,...,m. \end{cases}$

85

2. Calculation of $A_{f}'(A_{f}A_{f}')^{-1}A_{f}$

$$A_{g}'(A_{g}A_{g}')^{-1}A_{g} = 1/n(n+m) \begin{bmatrix} B'\overline{A} & 0 \\ 0 & B'\overline{A} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} B & 0 \\ 0 & B \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= 1/n(n+m) \begin{bmatrix} B'\overline{A}B & 0 \\ 0 & B'\overline{A}B \end{bmatrix},$$

where

r

J.

Ø

$$\mathbf{B'} \overline{\mathbf{A}} \mathbf{B} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{D}_1 \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{D}_{m-1} \\ \mathbf{E}_1 \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{E}_m \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{B}_1 \dots \mathbf{B}_{m-1} \mathbf{C}_1 \dots \mathbf{C}_m \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} D_{1}B_{1} & \dots & D_{1}B_{m-1} & D_{1}C_{1} & \dots & D_{1}C_{m} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ D_{m-1}B_{1} & \dots & D_{m-1}B_{m-1} & D_{m-1}C_{1} & \dots & D_{m-1}C_{m} \\ \hline E_{1}B_{1} & \dots & E_{1}B_{m-1} & E_{1}C_{1} & \dots & E_{1}C_{m} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ E_{m}B_{1} & \dots & E_{m}B_{m-1} & E_{m}C_{1} & \dots & E_{m}C_{m} \end{bmatrix}.$$

7

It is necessary now to derive the elements from the various matrix products in B'AB.

Э.

Ļ

2(a) Calculation of $D_t B_s$

۵

 $\overline{}$

جيب

For x_{ij} from the (m-t) \times (m-s) matrix $D_t \, B_s$ and s, t = 1, \ldots, m-1 \, ,

325

لم

$$\mathbf{x}_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{m} \mathbf{d}_{ik} \mathbf{b}_{kj}$$

If $k \neq t$, i + t, s or s + j then either d_{ik} or b_{kj} is zero.

By writing x_{ij} in terms of these values for k and imposing restriction on the indices to prevent duplication of terms, then

$$\begin{array}{l} \begin{array}{c} d_{is}b_{sj}+d_{i(j+s)}b_{(j+s)j} & s=t \\ \\ d_{i(i+t)}b_{(i+t)j}+d_{i(j+s)}b_{(j+s)j}+d_{it}b_{tj} & s\neq t, i+t=s, j+s\neq t, i+t\neq j+s \\ \\ d_{it}b_{tj}+d_{i(i+t)}b_{(i+t)j}+d_{is}b_{sj} & s\neq t, i+t\neq s, j+s\neq t, i+t=j+s \\ \\ d_{is}b_{sj}+d_{i(i+t)}b_{(i+t)j}+d_{i(j+s)}b_{(j+s)j} & s\neq t, i+t\neq s, j+s=t, i+t\neq j+s \\ \\ d_{is}b_{sj}+d_{i(i+t)}b_{(i+t)j}+d_{it}b_{tj}+d_{i(j+s)}b_{(j+s)j} & s\neq t, i+t\neq s, j+s\neq t, i+t\neq j+s \\ \\ d_{is}b_{sj}+d_{i(i+t)}b_{(i+t)j}+d_{i(j+t)}(-1) = n & d_{i(j+t)} \\ \\ d_{is}b_{sj} = d_{it}(1) + d_{i(j+t)}(-1) = n & d_{i(j+t)} \\ \end{array}$$

<u>Case 1</u>

86

۲.

s < t. If i+t=s then i=s-t which is impossible since s < t. Thus $i \neq s-t$

For
$$i+t=j+s$$
, $x_{ij} = d_{it} b_{tj} + d_{i(i+t)}b_{(j+s)j} + d_{is} b_{sj}$

$$= nb_{t(i+t-s)} + (-n)(-1) + d_{is}(1)$$

Since s < t, then s < t + i and hence $d_{is} = 0$

Since $s \neq t$ and $t \neq (i+t-s)+s$, then $b_{t(i+t-s)} = 0$, and

 $\begin{array}{ll} x_{ij} = n & \text{for } j = i + t - s \\ For j + s = t, & \\ &$

Since s < t, then s < i+t and $d_{is} = 0$. Also $i+t \neq j+s$ and so $b_{(i+t)j} = 0$ and $x_{ij} = -n$

for $j = t_{-8}$.

For $j+s \neq t$, $i+t \neq j+s$ and $i+t \neq s$, then $d_{i(j+s)}=0$ and $b_{(i+t)j}=0$.

Then $x_{ij} = d_{in}b_{nj} + d_{it}b_{tj}$

 $= d_{is} + nb_{ti}$

Since $s \le t$ and $s \ne t+i$ then $d_{is} = 0$. Since $j+t \ne s+j$, then $b_{tj} = 0$ and $x_{ij} = 0$

for s < t and $j \neq t$ -s or $j \neq i + t$ -s.

Therefore $D_t B_s$ is an (m-t)×(m-s) matrix for s<t=2,..., m-1:

with elements $\mathbf{x}_{ij} = \begin{cases} -n & j=t-s \\ n & j=i+t-s \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$

Case 3 s

>

s>t. If j+s = t then j = t-s which contradicts s>t.

For i + t = s, $x_j = d_{is}b_{sj} + d_{i(j+s)}b_{(j+s)j} + d_{it}b_{tj}$

$$= d_{(t-s)s}(1) + d_{i(j+s)}(-1) + n b_{tj}$$

$$= -n - d_{i(j+s)} + n b_{tj}$$

Since $j+s \neq t$ and $j+s \neq i+t$, then $d_{i(j+s)} = 0$

Since s > t and j + s > t, then $b_{tj} = 0$ and $x_{ij} = -n$ for i = s - t.

For i + t = j + s, $x_{ij} = d_{it} b_{tj} + d_{i(i+t)}b_{(j+s)} + d_{ir} b_{rj}$

$$= n b_{ti} + (-n) (-1) + d_{ir}$$
.

Since $t \neq j + s$ and t < s, then $b_{tj} = 0$. Since s > t and $s \neq i + t$ then $d_{is} = 0$ and $x_{ij} = n$ for i = j + s - t.

For $i + t \neq s$, $i + t \neq j + s$ and $j + s \neq t$, then $d_{i(i+t)} = 0$, $b_{(j+s)j} = 0$, $d_{is} = 0$, $b_{tj} = 0$, and $x_{ij} = 0$.

Thus, $D_t B_s$ is an (m-t)×(m-s) matrix for t < s = 2, ..., m-1.

with elements
$$\mathbf{x}_{ij} = \begin{cases} -n & i = s - t \\ n & i = j + s - t \\ 0 & otherwise \end{cases}$$

 $D_t B_s$ is the transpose of $D_s B_t$.

2(b) Calculation of $D_t C_u$

The calculation of D_tC_u proceeds as follows; for $x_{ij} \in D_tC_u$, t = 1,...,m-1 and u = 1,...,m

89

٠,

$$\mathbf{x}_{ij} = \sum_{\mathbf{k}=1}^{m} \mathbf{d}_{i\mathbf{k}} \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{k}j}$$
$$= \left[\sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k}=1\\\mathbf{k}\neq\mathbf{t},\mathbf{i}+\mathbf{t}}}^{m} \mathbf{d}_{i\mathbf{k}} \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{k}j}\right] + \mathbf{d}_{i\mathbf{t}} \mathbf{c}_{ij} + \mathbf{d}_{i(i+t)} \mathbf{c}_{(i+t)j}$$

m

$$= n c_{tj} - n c_{(i+t)j} \quad i = 1,...,m-t; \ j = 1,...,n.$$

Case 1: t=u

Then $x_{ij} = nc_{uj} - nc_{(i+u)j} = n-0 = n$ and D_tC_t is an $(m-t) \times n$ constant matrix for t=1,...,m-1 with elements $x_{ij}=n$.

Case 2: t < u

For i + t = u, $x_{ij} = nc_{(u-i)j} - nc_{uj} = n(0) - n(1) = -n$.

For $i + t \neq u$, $x_{ij} = n(0) - n(0) = 0$, and $D_t C_u$ is an $(m-t) \times n$ matrix with elements

 $\mathbf{x}_{ij} = \begin{cases} -n & i = u - t \\ 0 & otherwise \end{cases}$

for t < u = 2,...,m.

Case 3: t>u

If i+t=u, then i=u-t which is impossible since t>u. If $i+t\neq u$, then $x_{ij}=0$. Thus $D_tC_u = 0$ for u < t=2, ..., m-1.

2(c) Calculation of $E_r B_s$

For x_{ij} from the $n\times(m\text{-s})$ matrix $E_r\,B_s$ and s = 1, \ldots, m-1; r = 1, \ldots, m ,



90

۱.

Case 1: s=r

Then $x_{ij} = e_{ir} - e_{i(j+r)} = n + 1 - 1 = n$

 $E_r B_r$ is an $n \times (m-r)$ matrix for r = 1,...,m-1 with elements $x_{ij} = n$.

Case 2: r < s.

Since r < s, then $s \neq r, s+j \neq r$ and $x_{ij} = 1 - 1 = 0$. $E_r B_s = 0$ for r < s = 2, ..., m-1

Case 3: r>s

If j+s=r, $x_{ij} = e_{is} - e_{ir} = 1 - (n + 1) = -n$. If $j+s\neq r$, $x_{ij} = 1 - 1 = 0$.

 $E_r B_s$ is an n×(m-s) matrix for s<r=2,...,m, with elements

 $\mathbf{x}_{ij} = \begin{cases} -n & j = r - s \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$

2(d) Calculation of $E_r C_u$

For x_{ij} from the $n \times n$ matrix $E_r C_u$ and $u, r = 1, \ldots, m$;



$$= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k}=1\\\mathbf{k}\neq\mathbf{u}}}^{\mathbf{m}} \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k}} \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{j}} + \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{u}} \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{u}\mathbf{j}}$$

Case 1:
$$u=r$$

i,

Then $x_{ij}=e_{ir}=n+1$.

 $E_r C_r$ is an $n \times n$ matrix with elements $x_{ij} = n + 1$ for r = 1, ..., m.

e_{iu}

Case 2: $r \neq u$.

Then $\mathbf{x}_{ij} = \mathbf{e}_{iu} = 1$.

 $E_r C_u$ is an $n \times n$ matrix for r, u = 1, ..., m with elements $x_{ij} = 1$ for $r \neq u$.

3. Projection Matrix

Using the properties that

 D_tB_s is the transpose of D_sB_t and E_rB_s is the transpose of D_sC_r ,

 E_rC_r is an $n \times n$ constant matrix with elements $x_{ij} = n+1$ for r = 1, ..., m and

 E_rC_u is an $n \times n$ unit matrix with elements $x_{ij} = 1$ for r, u = 1, ..., m and $r \neq u$, the final form for (-1/n(n+m))B'AB can be written as

$$1/n(n+m) \begin{bmatrix} -D_{1}B_{1} & -D_{1}B_{2} & \dots & -D_{1}B_{m-1} \\ (-D_{1}B_{2})' & -D_{2}B_{2} & \dots & -D_{2}B_{m-1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ (-D_{1}B_{m-1})' & \dots & -D_{m-1}B_{m-1} \end{bmatrix} = D_{1}C_{1} - D_{1}C_{2} \dots -D_{1}C_{m-1} - D_{1}C_{m} \\ 0 & -D_{2}C_{2} \dots -D_{2}C_{m-1} & -D_{2}C_{m} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & -D_{m-1}C_{n-1}C_{m} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & -D_{m-1}C_{n-1}C_{m} \\ (-D_{1}C_{1})' & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ -E_{1}C_{1} - E_{1}C_{2} & \dots & -E_{1}C_{2} \\ (-D_{1}C_{2})' & (-D_{2}C_{2})' \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ (-D_{1}C_{m})' & \dots & (-D_{m-1}C_{m}) \end{bmatrix} = E_{1}C_{2} - E_{1}C_{2} & \dots & -E_{1}C_{1} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$P = I - A_{g}(A_{g}A_{g}')^{-1}A_{g}$$

 $= \begin{bmatrix} I - (1/n(n+m)) B \overline{A} B & 0 \\ 0 & I - (1/n(n+m)) B \overline{A} B \end{bmatrix}$

 $= 1/(n+m) \left[\begin{array}{c} R & 0 \\ 0 & R \end{array} \right] \, .$

where R is an $[(m(m-1)/2 + mn] \times [m(m-1)/2 + mn]$ matrix given by

Ľ.

and N is an $n \times n$ constant matrix with elements $n_{ij} = -1/n.$

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Bellman, R., (1965), "An Application of Dynamic Programming to Location-Allocation Problems", <u>SIAM Review</u>, Vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 216-128.

Berens, W. and Körling, F.J., (1985), "Estimating Road Distances by Mathematical Functions", accepted for publication in <u>European Journal of Operational Research</u>.

Bindschedler, A.E. and Moore, J.M., (1961), "Optimum Location of New Machines in Existing Plant Layouts", The Journal of Industrial Engineering, Vol. 12, No. 1, pp. 41-48.

Cabot, A.V., Francis, R.L. and Stary, M.A., (1970), "A Network Flow Solution to a Rectilinear Distance Facility Location Problem", <u>AIEE Transactions</u>, Vol. 2, No. 2, pp. 132-141.

Calamai, P.H. and Conn, A.R., (1980), "A Stable Algorithm for Solving the Multifacility Location Problem Involving Euclidean Distances", <u>SIAM Journal on Scientific and Statistical</u> <u>Computing</u>, Vol. 1, No. 4, pp. 512-526.

Charalambous, C., (1985), "Acceleration of the HAP Approach for the Multifacility Location Problem", <u>Naval Research Logistics Quarterly</u>, Vol. 32, No. 2, pp. 373-389.

Cooper, L., (1963), "Location-Allocation Problems", <u>Operations Research</u>, Vol. 11, No. 3, pp. 37-52.

Cooper, L., (1964), "Heuristic Methods for Location-Allocation Problems", <u>SIAM Review</u>, Vol. 6, No. 1, pp. 37-53.

Cooper, L., (1967), "Solutions of Generalized Locational Equilibrium Models", <u>Journal of</u> <u>Regional Science</u>, Vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 1-18.

Cooper, L., (1969), "An Extension of the Generalized Weber Problem", <u>Journal-of Regional</u> Science, Vol. 8, No. 2, pp. 181-197.

Cooper, L., (1972), "The Transportation-Location Problem", <u>Operations Research</u>, Vol. 20, No. 1, pp. 94-108.

Cordelier, F. and Fiorot, J.-Ch., (1978), "On the Fermat-Weber Problem with Convex Cost Functions", <u>Mathematical Programming</u>, Vol. 14, No. 3, pp. 295-311.

Drezner, Z., (1984), "The Two-Center and Two-Median Problems", <u>Transportation Science</u>, Vol. 18, No. 4, pp. 351-361.

Drezner, Z. and Wesolowsky, G.O., (1978a), "Facility Location on a Sphere", <u>Journal of the</u> <u>Operational Research Society</u>, Vol. 29, No. 10, pp. 997-1004. Drezner, Z. and Wesolowsky, G.O., (1978b), "A Trajectory Method for the Optimization of the Multi-Facility Location Problem with ℓ_p Distances", <u>Management Science</u>, Vol. 24, No. 14, pp. 1507-1514.

Drezner, Z. and Wesolowsky, G.O., (1983), "Minimax and Maximin Facility Location Problems on a Sphere", <u>Naval Research Logisitics Quarterly</u>, Vol. 30, No. 2, pp. 305-312.

Eddison, R., (1964), "Warehousing, Distribution and Finished Goods Management", Chapter 4 in Hertz, D.B. and Eddison, R.T. (editors), <u>Progress in Operations Research II</u>, John Wiley and Sons, New York.

El Shaieb, A.M., (1973), "A New Algorithm for Locating Sources Among Destinations", <u>Management Science</u>, Vol. 20, No. 2, pp. 221-231.

Elzinga, D.J. and Hearn, D.W., (1983), "On Stopping Rules for Facilities Location Algorithms", <u>IIE Transactions</u>, Vol. 15, No. 1, pp. 81-83.

Eyster, J.W., White, J.A. and Wierwille, W.W., (1973), "On Solving Multifacility Location Problems Using a Hyperboloid Approximation", <u>AIEE Transactions</u>, Vol. 5, No. 1, pp. 1-6.

Fasbender, E., (1846), Journal für Mathematik, 30, pp. 230-231.

Francis, R.L., (1963), "A Note on the Optimum Location of New Machines in Existing Plant Layouts", <u>The Journal of Industrial Engineering</u>, Vol. 14, No. 1, pp. 57-59.

Francis, R.L., (1964), "On the Location of Multiple New Facilities with Respect to Existing Facilities", <u>The Journal of Industrial Engineering</u>, Vol. 15, No. 2, pp. 106-107.

Francis, R.L. and Cabot, A., (1972), "Properties of a Multifacility Location Problem Involving Euclidean Distances", <u>Naval Research Logistics Quarterly</u>, Vol. 19, No. 2, pp. 335-353.

Francis, R.L. and White, J.A., (1974), <u>Facility Layout and Location - An Analytical Approach</u>, Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey.

Frank, M. and Wolfe, P., (1956), "An Algorithm for Quadratic Programming", <u>Naval</u> <u>Research Logistics Quarterly</u>, Vol. 3, pp. 95-110.

Hadley, G., (1964), Nonlinear and Dynamic Programming, Addison-Wesley, Reading, MA.

Hansen, P., Perreur, J. and Thisse, J.-F., (1980), "Location Theory, Dominance and Convexity: Some Further Results", <u>Operations Research</u>, Vol. 28, No. 5, pp. 1241-1250.

Juel, H., (1975), "Properties of Location Models", Operations Research Fechnical Report No. 3, Graduate School of Business, University of Wisconsin, Madison, WI

Juel, H., (1978), "On a Rational Stopping Rule for Facilities Location Algorithms", Proceedings, 14th Annual Meeting, Southeastern Chapter, The Institute of Management Science, Atlanta, GA, October, pp. 56-60.

Juel, H., (1984), "On a Rational Stopping Rule for Facilities Location Algorithms", <u>Naval</u> <u>Research Logistics Quarterly</u>, Vol. 31, No. 1, pp. 9-11. Juel, H. and Love, R.F., (1976), "An Efficient Computational Procedure for Solving the Multifacility Rectilinear Facilities Location Problem", <u>Operational Research Quarterly</u>, Vol. 27, No. 3, pp. 697-703.

Juel, H. and Love, R.F., (1980), "Sufficient Conditions for Optimal Facility Locations to Coincide", <u>Transportation Science</u>, Vol. 14, No. 2, pp. 125-129.

Juel, H. and Love, R.F., (1981a), "Fixed Point Optimality Criteria for the Location Problem with Arbitrary Norms", <u>Journal of the Operational Research Society</u>, Vol. 32, pp. 891-897.

Juel, H. and Love, R.F., (1981b), "On the Dual of the Linearly Constrained Multifacility-Location Problem with Arbitrary Norms", <u>Transportation Science</u>, Vol. 15, No. 4, pp. 329-337.

Juel, H. and Love, R.F., (1982), "The Solution of Location Problems with Certain Existing Facility Structures", <u>INFOR</u>, Vol. 21, No. 2, pp. 145-150.

Juel, H. and Love, R.F., (1983), "Hull Properties in Location Problems", <u>European Journal of</u> <u>Operational Research</u>, Vol. 12, pp. 262-265.

Juel, H. and Love, R.F., (1985), "The Facility Location Problem for Hyper-Rectilinear Distances", <u>IIE Transactions</u>, Vol. 17, No. 1, pp. 94-98.

Katz, I.N., (1969), "Local Convergence in Fermat's Problem", <u>Mathematical Programming</u>, Vol. 6, No. 1, pp. 89-104.

Katz, I.N., (1969), "On the Convergence of a Numerical Scheme for Solving Some Locational Equilibrium Problems", <u>SIAM Journal of Applied Mathematics</u>, Vol. 17, No. 6, pp. 1224-1231.

Kuenne, R.E. and Soland, R.M., (1972), "Exact and Approximate Solutions to the Multisource Weber Problem", <u>Mathematical Programming</u>, Vol. 3, No. 2, pp. 193-209.

Kuhn, H.W., (1967), "On a Pair of Dual Nonlinear Problems", Chapter 3 in J. Abadie (ed.), <u>Nonlinear Programming</u>, John Wiley and Sons, New York.

Kuhn, H.W., (1973), "A Note on Fermat's Problem", <u>Mathematical Programming</u>, Vol. 4, No. 1, pp. 98-107.

Kuhn, H.W. and Kuenne, R.E., (1962), "An Efficient Algorithm for the Numerical Solution of the Generalized Weber Problem in Spatial Economics,", <u>Journal of Regional Science</u>, Vol. 4, No. 2, pp. 21-34.

Love, R.F., (1967), "The Location of Single Facilities in Three-Dimensional Space by Nonlinear Programming", <u>Journal of the Canadian Operational Research Society</u>, Vol. 5, No. 3, pp. 136-143.

Love, R.F., (1968), "A Note on the Convexity of Siting Depots", <u>The International Journal of</u> <u>Production Research</u>, Vol. 6, No. 2, pp. 153-154.

Love, R.F., (1969), "Locating Facilities in ⁵ Three-Dimensional Space by Convex Programming", <u>Naval Research Logistics Quarterly</u>, Vol. 16, No. 4, pp. 503-516.

Love, R.F., (1972), "A Computational Procedure for Optimally Locating a Facility with Respect to Several Rectangular Regions", <u>Journal of Regional Science</u>, Vol. 12, No. 2, pp. 233-242.

Love, R.F., (1974), "The Dual of a Hyperbolic Approximation to the Generalized Constrained Multifacility Location Problem with ℓ_p Distances", <u>Management Science</u>, Vol. 21, No. 1, pp. 22-33.

Love, R.F., (1976), "One-Dimensional Facility Location-Allocation Using Dynamic Programming", <u>Management Science</u>, Vol. 22, No. 5, pp. 614-617.

Love, R.F. and Dowling, P., (1985), "Optimal Weighted l_p Norm Parameters for Facilities Layout Distance Characterizations", <u>Management Science</u>, Vol. 31, No. 2, pp. 200-206.

Love, R.F. and Juel, H., (1982), "Properties and Solution Methods for Large Location-Allocation Problems", <u>Journal of the Operational Research Society</u>, Vol. 33, No. 5, pp. 443-452.

Love, R.F. and Juel, H., (1983), "Hull Properties in Location Problems", <u>European Journal of</u> <u>Operational Research</u>, Vol. 12, pp. 262-265.

Love, R.F. and Kraemer, S., (1973), "A Dual Decomposition Method for Minimizing Transportation Costs in Multi-Facility Location Problems", <u>Transportation Science</u>, Vol. 7, No. 4, pp. 297-316.

Love, R.F. and Morris, J.G., (1972), "Modelling Inter-City Road Distances by Mathematical Functions", <u>Operational Research Quarterly</u>, Vol. 23, No. 1, pp. 61-71.

Love, R.F. and Morris, J.G., (1975a), "Solving Constrained Multifacility Location Problems Involving ℓ_p Distances Using Convex Programming", <u>Operations Research</u>, Vol. 23, No. 3, pp. 581-587.

Love, R.F. and Morris, J.G., (1975b), "A Computation Procedure for the Exact Solution of Location-Allocation Problems with Rectangular Distances", <u>Naval Research Logistics</u> Quarterly, Vol. 22, No. 3, pp. 441-453.

Love, R.F. and Morris, J.G., (1978), "On Convexity Proofs in Location Theory", <u>Naval</u> <u>Research Logistics Quarterly</u>, Vol. 25, No. 1, pp. 179-181.

Love, R.F. and Morris, J.G., (1979), "Mathematical Models of Road Travel Distances", <u>Management Science</u>, Vol. 25, No. 2, pp. 130-139.

Love, R.F., Truscott, W.G. and Walker, J.H., (1985), "Terminal Location Problem: A Case Study Supporting the Status Quo", <u>Journal of the Operational Research Society</u>, Vol. 36, No. 2, pp. 131-136.

Love, R.F. and Yeong, W.Y., (1981), "A Stopping Rule for Facilities Location Algorithms", <u>AIEE Transactions</u>, Vol. 13, No. 4, pp. 357-362.

Love, R.F. and Yerex, L., (1976), "An Application of a Facilities Location Model in the Prestressed Concrete Industry", <u>Interfaces</u>, Vol. 6, No. 1, pp. 45-49.

Luenberger, D.G., (1973), <u>Introduction to Linear and Nonlinear Programming</u>, Addison-Wesley, Reading, MA.

Morris, J.G., (1981), "Convergence of the Weiszfeld Algorithm for Weber Problems using a Generalized Distance Function", <u>Operations Research</u>, Vol. 29, No. 1, pp. 37-48.

Morris, J.G. and Verdini, W.A., (1979), "Minisum ℓ_p Distance Location Problems Solved Via a Perturbed Problem and Weiszfeld's Algorithm", <u>Operations Research</u>, Vol. 27, No. 6, pp. 1180-1188.

Ostresh, L.M., (1973), "Weber: Exact Solutions to the One Source Location Problem", in G. Rushton, M.F. Goodchild and L.M. Ostresh (eds.), <u>Computer Programs for Location-Allocation Problems</u>, Monograph No. 6, Department of Geography, University of Iowa, Iowa City, pp. 1-14.

Ostresh, L.M., (1977), "The Multifacility Location Problem: Applications and Descent Theorems", Journal of Regional Science, Vol. 17, No. 3, pp. 409-419.

Ostresh, L.M., (1978a), "The Stepwise Location-Allocation Problem: Exact Solutions in Continuous and Discrete Spaces", <u>Geographical Analysis</u>, Vol. 10, No. 2, pp. 174-185.

Ostresh, L.M., (1978b), "On the Convergence of a Class of Iterative Methods for Solving the Weber Location Problem", <u>Operations Research</u>, Vol. 26, No. 4, pp. 597-609.

Overton, M.L., (1983), "A Quadratically Convergent Method for Minimizing a Sum of Euclidean Norms", <u>Mathematical Programming</u>, Vol. 27, No. 1, pp. 34-63.

Peterson, E.L., (1970), "Symmetric Duality for Generalized Unconstrained Geometric Programming", <u>SIAM Journal of Applied Mathematics</u>, Vol. 19, No. 3, pp. 487-525.

Planchart, A. and Hurter, A.P., (1975), "An Efficient Algorithm for the Solution of the Weber Problem with Mixed Norms", <u>SIAM Journal on Control</u>, Vol. 13, No. 3, pp. 650-665.

Pritsker, A., (1972), "A Note to Correct the Procedure of Pritsker and Ghare for Locating New Facilities with Respect to Existing Facilities", <u>AIEE Transactions</u>, Vol. 5, No. 1, pp. 84-86.

Pritsker, A., and Ghare, P.M., (1970), "Locating New Facilities with Respect to Existing Facilities", <u>AIEE Transactions</u>, Vol. 2, No. 4, pp. 270-297.

Revelle, C., Marks, D. and Liebman, J., (1970), "An Analysis of Private and Public Sector Location Models", <u>Management Science</u>, Vol. 16, No. 11, pp. 692-707.

Rosen, J., (1960), "The Gradient Projection Method for Nonlinear Programming, I. Linear Constraints", <u>Journal of the Society of Industrial and Applied Mathematics</u>, Vol. 8, No. 1, pp. 181-217.

Saaty, T.L. and Bram, J., (1964), Nonlinear Mathematics, McGraw Hill, New York.
Simpson (1750), Doctrine and Applications of Fluxions, London.

Verdini, W.A., (1976), "On Solving a Class of Location and Location-Allocation Problems with Extensions to Clustering", Doctoral Dissertation, Graduate School of Business Administration, Kent State University.

Vergin, R. and Rogers, J., (1967), "An Algorithm and Computational Procedure for Locating Economic Facilities", <u>Management Science</u>, Vol. 13, No. 6, pp. 240-254.

Ward, J.E. and Wendell, R.E., (1980), "A New Norm for Measuring Distance Which Yields Linear Location Problems", <u>Operations Research</u>, Vol. 28, No. 3, pp. 836-843.

Ward, J.E. and Wendel, R.E., (1982), "Using Block Norms for Locational Modeling", Working Paper 470RE, Graduate School of Business, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA.

Weber, A., (1909), "Uber der Standort der Industrien", Verlag MOHR, Tübingen, English taanslation: Friedrich, C.F., (1929), Alfred Weber's Theory of the Location of Industries, University of Chicago Press.

Weiszfeld, E., (1937), "Sur le point lequel la somme des distances de n points donnés est minimum", <u>Tohoku Mathematical Journal</u>, Vol. 43, pp. 355-386.

Wendell, R.E. and Hurter, A.P., (1973), "Location Theory, Dominance and Convexity", <u>Operations Research</u>, Vol. 21, No. 1, pp. 314-320.

Wendell, R.E. and Peterson, E.L., (1984), "A Dual Approach for Obtaining Lower Bounds to the Weber Problem", Journal of Regional Science, Vol. 24, No. 2, pp. 219-228.

Wesolowsky, G.O., (1972), "Rectangular Distance Under the Minimax Optimality Criterion", <u>Transportation Science</u>, Vol. 6, No. 1, pp. 103-113.

Wesolowsky, G.O. and Love, R.F., (1971a), "The Optimal Location of New Facilities Using Rectangular Distances", <u>Operations Research</u>, Vol. 19, No. 1, pp. 124-130.

Wesolowsky, G.O. and Love, R.F., (1971b), "Location of Facilities with Rectangular Distances Among Point and Area Destinations", <u>Naval Research Logistics Quarterly</u>, Vol. 18, No. 1, pp. 83-90.

Wesolowsky, G.O. and Love, R.F., (1972), "A Nonlinear Approximation Method for Solving a Generalized Rectangular Distance Weber Problem", <u>Management Science</u>, Vol. 18, No. 11, pp. 656-663.

Witzgall, C., (1965), "Optimal Location of a Central Facility: Mathematical Models and Concepts", <u>National Bureau of Standards Report 8388</u>, Gaithersberg, Maryland.